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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

AMERICAN PUBLIC HEALTH ASSOCIATION, 
et al.,  

Plaintiffs, 

v.  

NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH, et al., 

Defendants. 

Case No. 1:25-cv-10787-BEM 

DECLARATION OF NICOLE MAPHIS 

I, Nicole Maphis, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, declare as follows: 

1. I am a Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the University of New Mexico (UNM) and have been

since June 2021.  I have devoted my research career to understanding Alzheimer’s disease and dementia 

due to my grandmother’s diagnosis and slow submission to this awful disease.  I have also pursued 

postdoctoral training in a lab focused on alcohol exposure to learn how consumption of excessive rates 

of alcohol could exacerbate the pathogenesis behind Alzheimer’s disease. In the lab I mentor students, 

devise research projects, draft proposals and write manuscripts for publication. I have seven first author 

publications that explore tauopathy (which is the development of abnormal accumulations of a protein 

inside neurons, known as tau, seen within the brain of patients diagnosed with Alzheimer’s disease and 

other types of dementia) and neuroinflammation [when the brain’s immune system, e.g. microglia (a 

brain-resident immune cell) overreacts to brain pathology like amyloid beta plaques and tau tangles 

found in the brains of patients with Alzheimer’s disease], and development of a potential 

immunotherapy to target tauopathy.  In my postdoctoral work, I examine alcohol and its mechanistic 

impact on tauopathy as a risk factor for development or exacerbation of Alzheimer’s disease. 

2. I am the first person in my family to attend and graduate from college. I am from a low-income

family and fit the criteria for a disadvantaged background as defined in Section C.7.(b) of the National 

Institutes of Health (NIH)’s Notice of Interest in Diversity because I grew up in a “Center for Medicare 

and Medicaid Services-designated Low-Income and Health Professional Shortage Areas.”  A true and 

correct copy of NIH’s Notice of Interest in Diversity is attached as Exhibit A. Given these 

circumstances, I graduated from college with significant student loan debt.  Following college, I worked 

as a technician/lab manager in two different research labs studying Alzheimer’s disease for nearly 9 
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years before going to graduate school. During graduate school I focused my training on tauopathy and 

neuroinflammation and I developed and tested a patented immunotherapy. 

3. I am offering this Declaration in my individual capacity and not on behalf of my employer. 

4. From September 1, 2021–August 30, 2024, I was trained as a postdoctoral fellow within 

Institutional Research and Career Development Award (IRACDA) program at UNM, known there as 

Academic Science and Educational Research Training (ASERT).  This distinguished national award 

provides salary and a small stipend to support education training and scientific research to educate and 

train the next generation of science educators, mentors, and scientific researchers.  The unique aspects of 

this IRACDA program include that trainees are educated in a cohort-based model where four postdocs 

are hired together, take coursework on education pedagogy and other topics, like bioinformatics, 

leadership training, and attend monthly team-taught meetings.  For example, I presented a lecture to the 

entire IRACDA group on choosing the right NIH awards based on one’s goals.  I also explained to my 

entire IRACDA group what a K99/R00 was and why I chose to apply for the MOSAIC K99/R00 award.  

IRACDA shaped my early career goals because of the detailed training and hands-on experience I 

gained at the partner institutions we worked with including Central New Mexico Community College 

(CNM), a nontraditional, Hispanic-serving community college, where I taught neuroscience lectures 

during the Anatomy and Physiology course.  Other partner institutions where my cohort-mates taught 

included a 4-year undergraduate Hispanic-serving institution, New Mexico State University, and a 2-

year indigenous college called Southwestern Indian Polytechnic Institute. Our IRACDA program 

focused on partnerships with majority minority-serving institutes (MSI) to broaden our experiences as 

well as enrich the lives and education of those students we taught. This IRACDA program helped train 

me to be a better educator and mentor, and to be more engaged with how education can be reframed to 

encompass and embrace cultural perspectives and “nontraditional” experiences.  

5. I submitted my first MOSAIC K99/R00 to the PAR-21-271 for the deadline of February 12, 

2024.  I chose the MOSAIC (i.e. diversity mechanism) because I fit the criteria of a diverse candidate, 

being a woman, the first in my family to graduate college, and from a low socioeconomic family, but 

more so I wanted to apply to this program because I really excel in cohort-based models of career 

development, since I was trained in IRACDA (September 1, 2021–August 30, 2024).  I also meet the 

qualifications of a MOSAIC candidate since I devote substantial time and efforts to DEI/STEM-related 

outreach including: 

a. Teaching a neuroscience workshop at a summer camp for 7th grade girls 
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b. Helping to organize/host an outreach event called the New Mexico Brain Bee (a high 

school outreach event geared at getting high school students interested in neurosciences 

careers) for the last 10+ years 

c. Helping teach numerous STEM outreach events geared at middle school populations 

including GoGirl Empowerment Seminar (Albuquerque, NM) and the Empowering 

Young Minds conference (Española, NM).   

6. Excessive alcohol exposure throughout the lifespan can impact the risk of developing 

Alzheimer’s disease and worsen the changes that occur in the brain of a person with Alzheimer’s disease 

throughout the course of their disease. Recent human clinical studies point to excessive neural firing and 

the appearance of tau pathology as potential risk factors mediated by alcohol exposure, yet studies 

conducted in rodent models have yet to fully explain what is happening within the brain. Previous work 

from my lab has tested excessive alcohol use in a rodent tau model and found that those that consumed 

the highest level of alcohol had increased spread of tau, increased neuroinflammation, and increased 

issues walking, we also saw some mice exhibit a seizure phenotype. My proposal would have provided 

me with comprehensive training so that I could learn how to measure and describe how this excessive 

neural firing could potentially lead to the appearance and the spread of this harmful tau pathology. 

Nearly 7 million people are living with Alzheimer’s disease, but only a small fraction (<5%) can be 

traced back to familial mutations that definitively cause the disease, which means that 95% of those with 

Alzheimer’s disease, develop the disease sporadically. I, and many others, postulate that perhaps 

exposure to alcohol throughout various critical time periods of life (e.g. adolescence, early adulthood, 

middle age or advanced age) could prime the brain to develop Alzheimer’s disease through either 

increasing neural activity (which is not always visible), and/or priming the brain to be more pro-

inflammatory, both processes which could contribute to the appearance and the spread of tau pathology. 

If we understand the ways in which alcohol is doing this, then perhaps we can limit the impacts, or at 

least know that we need to prevent downstream consequences, like Alzheimer’s disease.    

7. In June 2024 I found out my initial MOSAIC K99/R00 application was ND (Not Discussed) by 

the assigned study group when they convened. ND is a common outcome for first-time applicants, as the 

process to get these awards is very difficult and time consuming. In fact, most individuals who go on to 

receive a K99/R00 end up having to revise and re-apply with their application. In fact, my primary 

research mentor and other co-mentors on my mentoring team received K99/R00 on their second 

submission.  I then revised the initial application based on the feedback, provided in a document called a 

summary statement, by the three anonymous reviewers who are part of the -AA4 NIAAA study section.  
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I further revised my MOSAIC K99/R00 proposal based on the new PAR-24-225 and submitted it in time 

for November 12, 2024, deadline.  A true and correct copy of PAR-24-225 is attached as Exhibit B. 

8. I worked on this proposal approximately 8 hours/day, 3 ½ days/week over approximately 70 

weeks from drafting the initial MOSAIC application draft (July 2023) and submission (February 2024), 

plus the process of the revision and editing and revising for the second submission (November 2024).   

This includes meeting with program officers to discuss the application and the revised application and 

meeting with mentors, reference writers, and my mentoring team to discuss the actual proposal, career 

development and training plan, as well as editing and updating other relevant documents like budget, 

biosketches, career development training plan, etc.   

9. NIH has never provided me with any reason to expect that my MOSAIC grant application was in 

jeopardy.  However, I had seen online that the program announcement to which I applied (PAR-24-225) 

was archived/closed two years ahead of its scheduled end date and that the MOSAIC program website 

was taken down, which were both disconcerting and led me to reach out NIH ahead of my scientific 

review.   

10. On March 4, 2025, a Scientific Review Officer (SRO) at NIH emailed me to say: “Your 

application has been moved out of the AA-4 meeting while NIH undertakes a review of its research 

priorities under NIH’s statutory and regulatory authorities. You should have received an automated 

message from eRA Commons about this. When or if the status of your application changes, you will 

receive additional notifications from eRA Commons.”  A true and correct copy of this email exchange, 

dated March 4, 2025, is attached as Exhibit C. I also discussed this by telephone with the same SRO 

approximately around the same time.  During that conversation I asked, “Will my grant be reviewed?” 

The SRO replied: “Unfortunately not.”  

11. On March 14, 2025, a member of the study group assigned to evaluate my pending MOSAIC 

proposal, Dr. Patrick Mulholland, reached out to me on Bluesky (a social media platform) and said 

“these types of grants were removed from the discussion list for AA-4 on the morning of review. It’s 

unclear to me if the SRO/PO will provide the written critique. My guess is that you won’t receive 

anything until an official review.  Hope that happens for you and the others very soon.”  A true and 

correct copy of Dr. Mulholland’s message to me, dated March 14, 2025, is attached as Exhibit D. A true 

and correct copy of the Meeting Roster for the March 4, 2025, study section, showing Dr. Mulholland as 

Chairperson, is attached as Exhibit E. 

12. On March 17, 2025, I followed up by email with my SRO and learned that “all review related 

data was deleted from the system when they moved the application out of the meeting.”  A true and 
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correct copy of this email exchanged, dated March 17, 2025, is attached as Exhibit F. I understand this 

to mean that I will not receive any feedback from the three reviewers who read and reviewed my 

pending application.  

13. On March 25, 2025, I had a follow-up meeting with my PO who told me that I will not receive 

feedback, including comments on my application or the formal summary statement since it was not 

discussed at this study section meeting.  

14. On March 21, 2025, I received a phone call from a member of the study section (-AA4) who 

confirmed that my grant was set to be discussed the morning of the discussion session. She went on to 

say that it was highly regarded and likely would have received funding had it not been for NIH’s 

changes. She said “everyone was upset” that it was removed.  

15. My MOSAIC K99/R00 does not differ from the parent award except for two documents: 

a. The first is a “Statement on Activities to promote broad participation in biomedical 

research workforce” informally called a ‘diversity statement.’  This was previously 

known as the diversity statement on the original application, as shown by an earlier 

program announcement: PAR-21-271; 

b. The second document the MOSAIC application requires that the parent track does not is a 

statement written and signed by the chair of my department to certify that I am a 

MOSAIC-eligible candidate and that I am dedicated to a career that champions and 

fosters DEI.  

16. The delay in processing my application means I have run out of time to re-apply for this 

application. As described on page 6 of 25 in the announcement for this funding opportunity, the 

K99/R00 window is up to four years past the first day of your postdoc, which for me was June 1, 2021.  

A true and correct copy of PA 24-194 is attached as Exhibit G. 

17.  I sought and was granted an extension to apply to the parent K99/ROO for the June 12, 2025, 

deadline.  However, the timeline for reviewing that application means that, even if I apply and secure 

funding, the funding will arrive too late for me to benefit from it.  If I apply for the June 12 deadline, the 

proposal would not be reviewed until November 2025 and, if funded, the funding would not begin until 

March or April 2026.  My fellowship, however, ends on September 30, 2025.  A true and correct copy of 

an NIH webpage (last visited on April 16, 2025) showing standard due dates is attached as Exhibit H. 

18. Because of NIH’s refusal to consider my application, I have lost out on two years (the K99 phase 

of the award) where I would have received cutting-edge training on my four specific and unique training 
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goals that were detailed in the Career Development Plan included in my MOSAIC K99/R00 application. 

Those four goals, which rely on researchers from my mentoring team and my consultant to provide, are: 

a. Intracranial implantation of custom-built Microwire electrode Arrays (MWA): Which 

would have allowed me to learn how to perform surgery on rodents to implant wires 

within the brain to record the electrical activity from within key regions of the brains 

altered by either alcohol and/or tauopathy. Not only would this training goal have helped 

to accomplish this research proposed, but learning this skill would have provided me with 

a very unique skill set to help secure a future faculty job. 

b. Mathematical modeling/coding to measure brain activity: I would have been able to learn 

how to code the data and evaluate how the electrical activity within the brain is altered 

through this research training goal. This training would have built upon my limited 

knowledge base, helped accomplish the research proposed and ultimately help me secure 

a future faculty job with this skillset.  

c. Learn how to infuse chemicals to alter brain activity: I would have learned how to 

implant specialized chemical compounds that can alter brain activity (excite/silence 

populations of neurons) to study how increasing or reducing electrical activity would 

have impacted brain activity within the brain. These skills would have helped to 

accomplish the goals of the research proposed as well as make me an attractive candidate 

for a future faculty job.  

d. Perform experiments to induce alcohol dependence using alcohol using vapor chambers: 

This research goal would show me how to induce alcohol dependence within our models 

to understand how alcohol dependence and withdrawal can impact electrical activity, 

central to the research proposed. This goal would have helped facilitate the work 

proposed and increased my ability to get a faculty job. 

19. I have also invested several months’ assembling this MOSAIC application when I could have 

instead been focused on writing publications or drafting other proposals for consideration.   

20. My institution (UNM) has lost out on the opportunity to train me for the next two years, and may 

not have the money to support my salary.  UNM has also lost out on the indirect costs from the training 

portion (K99) of this grant, which is a percentage of the K99 award that is added to the overall award. 

The K99 portion was estimated to be $250,000 or $125,000/year for 2 years.  

21. The T32 training program by which I am currently funded could potentially end on June 30, 

2025.  However, I have been assured through the mentor of the program that I will be eligible to be 
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carried forward until September 30, 2025.  Still, I am constantly worried that this could fall through 

leaving me jobless by the end of June.   

22. I have also lost out on the ability to receive the second phase of this award (the R00 phase), 

which is not only prestigious but would have provided me with approximately $750,000 ($250,000/yr 

for three years) towards launching my own independent research program at a future institution. I have 

potentially lost out on the opportunity to pursue this career path. More fundamentally, this also means I 

have potentially lost out on the ability to pursue a career path as a faculty member at a research intensive 

graduate or medical school, limiting my career trajectory.  Finally, this also impacts my mentor, as 

having a postdoctoral fellow receive this award would have been beneficial to his career trajectory, too.  

23. I have not been able to conduct any pilot projects related to this project nor lay any additional 

foundational work elucidating these mechanisms leaving this research undone and my progress towards 

research independence lacking.  

24. The research that is now being shelved would have helped the public gain a more integral 

understanding of how alcohol use and alcohol use disorder could contribute to the development of 

Alzheimer’s disease or the progression of this devastating disease, finding potential mechanisms and 

maybe even targetable pathways to reduce injuries induced by excessive alcohol consumption.  

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  

Executed this 20th day of April, 2025.  

 

 

_____________ 

                  Nicole M. Maphis 
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The Wayback Machine - https://web.archive.org/web/20250109093953/https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/noti…
Notice of NIH's Interest in Diversity

Notice Number: NOT-OD-20-031

Key Dates
Release Date: November 22, 2019

Related Announcements

NOT-AG-24-003 - Solicitation of Nominations for the 2023 National Human Genome Research Institutes Bettie
J. Graham Leadership Award for Enhancing Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and Accessibility in the Genomics
Workforce.

RFA-RM-22-001 - Limited Competition: Transformative Research to Address Health Disparities and Advance
Health Equity at Minority Serving Institutions (U01 Clinical Trial Optional)

NOT-OD-21-055 - Notice of Changes in the Review Criteria for Applications Submitted for NIH Support for
Scientific Conferences (R13 and U13)
NOT-OD-18-210 Rescinded
NOT-MH-20-051
NOT-OD-21-053 - Updated Guidelines for Enhancing Diversity and Creating Safe Environments in Conferences
Supported by NIH Grants and Cooperative Agreements.
NOT-OD-22-019 - Reminder: Notice of NIH's Encouragement of Applications Supporting Individuals from
Underrepresented Ethnic and Racial Groups as well as Individuals with Disabilities

NOT-HG-22-014 - Solicitation of Nominations for the 2022 National Human Genome Research Institute’s
Outstanding Award for Enhancing Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and Accessibility in the Genomics Workforce

NOT-OD-22-180 - Notice of Special Interest: Administrative Supplement to Building Interdisciplinary Research
Careers in Women’s Health (BIRCWH)

NOT-OD-24-051 -The BIO-Entrepreneurship Capstone

Issued by
National Institutes of Health (NIH)

Purpose

NIH’s mission is to seek fundamental knowledge about the nature and behavior of living systems and to apply
that knowledge to enhance health, lengthen life, and reduce illness and disability. To achieve this mission, NIH
substantially invests in research to improve public health; it also devotes substantial resources to identify,
develop, support and maintain the quality of its scientific resources, including human capital.

This diversity statement was informed by a literature review, the reports and deliberations of several internal
NIH committees, as well as input from Institute and Center officials, program staff and external stakeholders.

Implementation Timeline
This notice is effective upon its release date and supersedes the prior Notice of Interest in Diversity (NOT-OD-
18-210), and the current diversity language in existing funding opportunity announcements (FOAs).

Diversity Statement
Every facet of the United States scientific research enterprise from basic laboratory research to clinical and
translational research to policy formation requires superior intellect, creativity and a wide range of skill sets and
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viewpoints. NIH’s ability to help ensure that the nation remains a global leader in scientific discovery and
innovation is dependent upon a pool of highly talented scientists from diverse backgrounds who will help to
further NIH's mission.

Research shows that diverse teams working together and capitalizing on innovative ideas and distinct
perspectives outperform homogenous teams. Scientists and trainees from diverse backgrounds and life
experiences bring different perspectives, creativity, and individual enterprise to address complex scientific
problems. There are many benefits that flow from a diverse NIH-supported scientific workforce, including:
fostering scientific innovation, enhancing global competitiveness, contributing to robust learning environments,
improving the quality of the research, advancing the likelihood that underserved or health disparity populations
participate in, and benefit from health research, and enhancing public trust.

Underrepresented Populations in the U.S. Biomedical, Clinical, Behavioral and Social Sciences Research
Enterprise
In spite of tremendous advancements in scientific research, information, educational and research opportunities
are not equally available to all. NIH encourages institutions to diversify their student and faculty populations to
enhance the participation of individuals from groups that are underrepresented in the biomedical, clinical,
behavioral and social sciences, such as:

A. Individuals from racial and ethnic groups that have been shown by the National Science Foundation to be
underrepresented in health-related sciences on a national basis (see data at
http://www.nsf.gov/statistics/showpub.cfm?TopID=2&SubID;=27) and the report Women, Minorities, and
Persons with Disabilities in Science and Engineering). The following racial and ethnic groups have been
shown to be underrepresented in biomedical research: Blacks or African Americans, Hispanics or Latinos,
American Indians or Alaska Natives, Native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders. In addition, it is
recognized that underrepresentation can vary from setting to setting; individuals from racial or ethnic
groups that can be demonstrated convincingly to be underrepresented by the grantee institution should be
encouraged to participate in NIH programs to enhance diversity. For more information on racial and ethnic
categories and definitions, see the OMB Revisions to the Standards for Classification of Federal Data on
Race and Ethnicity (https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-1997-10-30/html/97-28653.htm).

B. Individuals with disabilities, who are defined as those with a physical or mental impairment that
substantially limits one or more major life activities, as described in the Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990, as amended. See NSF data at, https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/2017/nsf17310/static/data/tab7-5.pdf.

C. Individuals from disadvantaged backgrounds, defined as those who meet two or more of the following
criteria:

1. Were or currently are homeless, as defined by the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act
(Definition: https://nche.ed.gov/mckinney-vento/);

2. Were or currently are in the foster care system, as defined by the Administration for Children and
Families (Definition: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/focus-areas/foster-care);

3. Were eligible for the Federal Free and Reduced Lunch Program for two or more years (Definition:
https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/income-eligibility-guidelines);

4. Have/had no parents or legal guardians who completed a bachelor’s degree (see
https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2018/2018009.pdf);

5. Were or currently are eligible for Federal Pell grants (Definition:
https://www2.ed.gov/programs/fpg/eligibility.html);

6. Received support from the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and
Children (WIC) as a parent or child (Definition: https://www.fns.usda.gov/wic/wic-eligibility-
requirements).

7. Grew up in one of the following areas: a) a U.S. rural area, as designated by the Health Resources
and Services Administration (HRSA) Rural Health Grants Eligibility Analyzer
(https://data.hrsa.gov/tools/rural-health), or b) a Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services-
designated Low-Income and Health Professional Shortage Areas (qualifying zipcodes are included
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in the file). Only one of the two possibilities in #7 can be used as a criterion for the disadvantaged
background definition.

Students from low socioeconomic (SES) status backgrounds have been shown to obtain bachelor’s
and advanced degrees at significantly lower rates than students from middle and high SES groups
(see https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator tva.asp), and are subsequently less likely to be
represented in biomedical research. For background see Department of Education data at,
https://nces.ed.gov/; https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator tva.asp;
https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/advancing-diversity-inclusion.pdf.

D. Literature shows that women from the above backgrounds (categories A, B, and C) face particular
challenges at the graduate level and beyond in scientific fields. (See, e.g., From the NIH: A Systems
Approach to Increasing the Diversity of Biomedical Research Workforce
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5008902/ ).

Women have been shown to be underrepresented in doctorate-granting research institutions at senior faculty
levels in most biomedical-relevant disciplines, and may also be underrepresented at other faculty levels in some
scientific disciplines (See data from the National Science Foundation National Center for Science and
Engineering Statistics: Women, Minorities, and Persons with Disabilities in Science and Engineering, special
report available at https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/2017/nsf17310/, especially Table 9-23, describing science,
engineering, and health doctorate holders employed in universities and 4-year colleges, by broad occupation, sex,
years since doctorate, and faculty rank).

Upon review of NSF data, and scientific discipline or field related data, NIH encourages institutions to consider
women for faculty-level, diversity-targeted programs to address faculty recruitment, appointment, retention or
advancement.

Inquiries

Please direct all inquiries to:

Division of Biomedical Research Workforce
Office of Extramural Research
Website: https://researchtraining.nih.gov
Email: NIHTrain@mail.nih.gov

Weekly TOC for this Announcement
NIH Funding Opportunities and Notices
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Funding
Instrument

Type:

Grant

Category of
Funding
Activity:

Education
Environment
Food and Nutrition
Health
Income Security and Social
Services

Category
Explanation:

Expected
Number of

Awards:

Assistance
Listings:

93.113 -- Environmental
Health
93.121 -- Oral Diseases and
Disorders Research
93.172 -- Human Genome
Research
93.173 -- Research Related
to Deafness and
Communication Disorders
93.213 -- Research and
Training in
Complementary and
Integrative Health
93.233 -- National Center
on Sleep Disorders
Research
93.242 -- Mental Health
Research Grants
93.273 -- Alcohol Research
Programs
93.279 -- Drug Abuse and
Addiction Research
Programs

4/16/25, 1:53 PM Search Results Detail | Grants.gov

https://www.grants.gov/search-results-detail/355586 2/6

Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 15 of 65



93.286 -- Discovery and
Applied Research for
Technological Innovations
to Improve Human Health
93.307 -- Minority Health
and Health Disparities
Research
93.313 -- NIH Office of
Research on Women's
Health
93.361 -- Nursing Research
93.837 -- Cardiovascular
Diseases Research
93.838 -- Lung Diseases
Research
93.839 -- Blood Diseases
and Resources Research
93.840 -- Translation and
Implementation Science
Research for Heart, Lung,
Blood Diseases, and Sleep
Disorders
93.846 -- Arthritis,
Musculoskeletal and Skin
Diseases Research
93.847 -- Diabetes,
Digestive, and Kidney
Diseases Extramural
Research
93.853 -- Extramural
Research Programs in the
Neurosciences and
Neurological Disorders
93.855 -- Allergy and
Infectious Diseases
Research
93.859 -- Biomedical
Research and Research
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Training
93.865 -- Child Health and
Human Development
Extramural Research
93.866 -- Aging Research
93.867 -- Vision Research
93.879 -- Medical Library
Assistance

Cost Sharing or
Matching

Requirement:

No

Eligibility

Eligible
Applicants:

Native American tribal governments (Federally recognized)
Independent school districts
City or township governments
State governments
County governments
Small businesses
Public and State controlled institutions of higher education
Public housing authorities/Indian housing authorities
Nonprofits having a 501(c)(3) status with the IRS, other than institutions of
higher education
For profit organizations other than small businesses
Private institutions of higher education
Nonprofits that do not have a 501(c)(3) status with the IRS, other than
institutions of higher education
Special district governments
Native American tribal organizations (other than Federally recognized tribal
governments)
Others (see text field entitled "Additional Information on Eligibility" for
clarification)

Additional
Information on

Eligibility:

Other Eligible Applicants include the following: Alaska Native and Native
Hawaiian Serving Institutions; Asian American Native American Pacific
Islander Serving Institutions (AANAPISISs); Eligible Agencies of the Federal

4/16/25, 1:53 PM Search Results Detail | Grants.gov

https://www.grants.gov/search-results-detail/355586 4/6
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Government; Faith-based or Community-based Organizations; Hispanic-
serving Institutions; Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs);
Indian/Native American Tribal Governments (Other than Federally
Recognized); Non-domestic (non-U.S.) Entities (Foreign Organizations);
Regional Organizations; Tribally Controlled Colleges and Universities (TCCUs)
; U.S. Territory or Possession; Non-domestic (non-U.S.) Entities (Foreign
Organizations) are not eligible to apply.Non-domestic (non-U.S.)
components of U.S. Organizations are not eligible to apply.Foreign
components, as defined in the NIH Grants Policy Statement, are allowed.

Additional Information

Agency Name: National Institutes of Health

Description: The purpose of the MOSAIC Postdoctoral Career Transition Award to Promote
Diversity (K99/R00) program is to support a cohort of early career,
independent investigators from diverse backgrounds conducting research in
NIH mission areas. The long-term goal of this program is to enhance diversity
in the basic biomedical sciences research workforce. The MOSAIC K99/R00
program is designed to facilitate a timely transition of outstanding
postdoctoral researchers from diverse backgrounds (e.g., see NIHs Interest in
Diversity) from their mentored, postdoctoral research positions to
independent, tenure-track or equivalent faculty positions at research-
intensive institutions. The MOSAIC K99/R00 program will provide
independent NIH research support during this transition to help awardees
launch competitive, independent research careers. Additionally, MOSAIC
K99/R00 scholars will be part of organized scientific cohorts that will be
expected to participate in mentoring, networking, and professional
development activities coordinated by MOSAIC Institutionally-Focused
Research Education Award to Promote Diversity (UE5) grantees.

Link to
Additional

Information:

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PAR-24-225.html

Grantor
Contact

Information:

If you have difficulty accessing the full announcement electronically, please
contact:
NIH Grants Information
grantsinfo@nih.gov

4/16/25, 1:53 PM Search Results Detail | Grants.gov

https://www.grants.gov/search-results-detail/355586 5/6
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Neuroscience and Behavior Study Section
National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Initial Review Group

NATIONAL INSTITUTE ON ALCOHOL ABUSE AND ALCOHOLISM
AA-4

03/04/2025

MEETING ROSTER

Notice of NIH Policy to All Applicants: Meeting rosters are provided for information purposes only. Applicant 
investigators and institutional officials must not communicate directly with study section members about an 
application before or after the review. Failure to observe this policy will create a serious breach of integrity in the 
peer review process, and may lead to actions outlined in NOT-OD-22-044, including removal of the application 
from immediate review.

CHAIRPERSON(S) 
MULHOLLAND, PATRICK J., PHD 
PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENTS OF NEUROSCIENCE AND PSYCHIATRY AND 
BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES 
MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
CHARLESTON, SC 29425 

MEMBERS 
ANOKHIN, ANDREY P., PHD 
PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHIATRY 
WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 
ST. LOUIS, MO 63110 

BARSON, JESSICA R., PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF NEUROBIOLOGY AND ANATOMY 
DREXEL UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF MEDICINE 
PHILADELPHIA, PA 19129 

BESHEER, JOYCE, PHD 
PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHIATRY 
BOWLES CENTER FOR ALCOHOL STUDIES 
UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA AT CHAPEL HILL 
CHAPEL HILL, NC 27599-7178 

CHEN, SHAO-YU, PHD 
PROFESSOR AND DISTINGUISHED UNIVERSITY SCHOLAR 
DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACOLOGY AND TOXICOLOGY 
UNIVERSITY OF LOUISVILLE SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 
LOUISVILLE, KY 40202 

CLARK, SHAUNNA L, PHD * 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHIATRY AND BEHAVIORAL 
SCIENCES 
COLLEGE OF MEDICINE 
TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY 
BRYAN, TX 77807 

CLARK, URAINA S., PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF NEUROLOGY 
ICAHN SCHOOL OF MEDICINE AT MOUNT SINAI 
NEW YORK, NY 10029 

CONTET, CANDICE, PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE 
THE SCRIPPS RESEARCH INSTITUTE 
LA JOLLA, CA 92037 

COSGROVE, KELLY P., PHD 
PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHIATRY 
YALE UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 
NEW HAVEN, CT 06510 

DEAK, TERRENCE, PHD * 
PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY 
BINGHAMTON UNIVERSITY, SUNY 
BINGHAMTON, NY 13902 

GREMEL, CHRISTINA M., PHD 
PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY 
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO 
LA JOLLA, CA 92093 

GUIZZETTI, MARINA, PHD 
PROFESSOR DEPARTMENT OF BEHAVIORAL 
NEUROSCIENCE 
OREGON HEALTH AND SCIENCE UNIVERSITY 
RESEARCH BIOLOGIST 
PORTLAND VA MEDICAL CENTER 
PORTLAND, OR 97239-3098 

KIMBROUGH, ADAM J, BS, PHD * 
ASSISTANT PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF BASIC MEDICAL SCIENCES 
PURDUE UNIVERSITY 
WEST LAFAYETTE, IN 47907 

LAPISH, CHRISTOPHER COURT, PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY 
INDIANA UNIVERSITY-PURDUE UNIVERSITY INDIANAPOLIS 
INDIANAPOLIS, IN 46202 

MEDINA, ALEXANDRE E., PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PEDIATRICS 
UNIVERSITY OF MARYLAND SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 
BALTIMORE, MD 21210 

MOORMAN, DAVID E., PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGICAL AND BRAIN SCIENCES 
UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST 
AMHERST, MA 01003 
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Neuroscience and Behavior Study Section
National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Initial Review Group

NATIONAL INSTITUTE ON ALCOHOL ABUSE AND ALCOHOLISM
AA-4

03/04/2025

MEETING ROSTER

Notice of NIH Policy to All Applicants: Meeting rosters are provided for information purposes only. Applicant 
investigators and institutional officials must not communicate directly with study section members about an 
application before or after the review. Failure to observe this policy will create a serious breach of integrity in the 
peer review process, and may lead to actions outlined in NOT-OD-22-044, including removal of the application 
from immediate review.

OZBURN, ANGELA RENEE, PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF BEHAVIORAL NEUROSCIENCE 
OREGON HEALTH AND SCIENCE UNIVERSITY 
RESEARCH BIOLOGIST 
VA PORTLAND HEALTHCARE SYSTEM 
PORTLAND, OR 97239 

PONOMAREV, IGOR, PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACOLOGY AND NEUROSCIENCE 
TEXAS TECH UNIVERSITY HEALTH SCIENCES CENTER 
LUBBOCK, TX 79430 

SCHANK, JESSE R., PHD 
ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR 
DEPARTMENT OF PHYSIOLOGY AND PHARMACOLOGY 
UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA 
ATHENS, GA 30602 

SCIENTIFIC REVIEW OFFICER 
BUZAS, BEATA, PHD 
SCIENTIFIC REVIEW OFFICER 
EXTRAMURAL PROJECT REVIEW BRANCH 
OFFICE OF EXTRAMURAL ACTIVITIES 
NATIONAL INSTITUTE ON ALCOHOL ABUSE AND 
ALCOHOLISM 
NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH 
BETHESDA, MD 20892 

EXTRAMURAL SUPPORT ASSISTANT 
LYLES, DEIRDRE 
EXTRAMURAL SUPPORT ASSISTANCE 
NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH 
NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF ALCOHOL ABUSE AND 
ALCOHOLISM 
OFFICE OF EXTRAMURAL ACTIVITIES 
EXTRAMURAL PROJECT REVIEW BRANCH 
BETHESDA, MD 20892-9304 

* Temporary Member. For grant applications, temporary members 
may participate in the entire meeting or may review only selected 
applications as needed.

Consultants are required to absent themselves from the room 
during the review of any application if their presence would 
constitute or appear to constitute a conflict of interest.
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From: Buzas, Beata (NIH/NIAAA) [E] <bbuzas@mail.nih.gov>
Sent: Monday, March 17, 2025 9:28 AM
To: Nicole M Maphis <NMaphis@salud.unm.edu>
Subject: RE: Comments for KAA032041A
 

[[-- External - this message has been sent from outside the University --]]
 
Hi Nikki, Since the application was removed from the meeting, there is no way that I can release
SS, since there are no critiques anymore. All data was deleted when they moved the application
from the meeting. Beata
 
From: Nicole M Maphis <NMaphis@salud.unm.edu>
Sent: Monday, March 17, 2025 11:05 AM
To: Buzas, Beata (NIH/NIAAA) [E] <bbuzas@mail.nih.gov>
Cc: Cui, Changhai (NIH/NIAAA) [E] <changhai.cui@nih.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Comments for KAA032041A
 
Dr. Buzas,
I know that my application was pulled, but I was wondering if I would receive a summary statement, at
the very least, since 3 reviewers likely read my grant. Isn't that how peer review works? Since I will be
responding to the June 12, 2025 with a new application under the parent award I want to give my
application the best chance of succeeding.
Thank you in advance for any clarity you can provide on this matter.
As always, please give me a call at 440.465.9150 if you prefer to discuss this matter on the phone.
 
Best,
Nikki
 
--

Nikki Maphis, PhD (she/her/hers)

UNM T32 Postdoctoral Scholar (CASAA)

IRACDA/ASERT Postdoctoral Research Fellow 

National Postdoctoral Association IMPACT Fellow

Linsenbardt Lab

Department of Neurosciences

University of New Mexico

Albuquerque, NM 87131

Connect with me @LinkedIn

Check out my publications here!

From: Cui, Changhai (NIH/NIAAA) [E] <changhai.cui@nih.gov>
Sent: Saturday, March 15, 2025 2:15 PM
To: Nicole M Maphis <NMaphis@salud.unm.edu>
Subject: RE: Comments for KAA032041A
 

4/14/25, 4:06 PM Mail - Nicole M Maphis - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/id/AAkALgAAAAAAHYQDEapmEc2byACqAC%2FEWg0A1j%2BoXtvy1UmcdpRVjtX%2BsgAEGot4jAAA 2/5

Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 30 of 65



[[-- External - this message has been sent from outside the University --]]
 
Hi Nikki,
 
Beata Buzas is the SRO who managed the study section review meeting to which your K99/R00 was
assigned. So she will know the answers to your questions. You can reach out to her directly. My
understanding is that there will not be a summary statement, but please ask Beata Buzas
(bbuzas@mail.nih.gov) to confirm.
 
I am glad you have ample time to submit a regular K99/R00 application to Jun 12, 2025 due date.
 
With all best wishes!
 
Changhai
 
 
 
From: Nicole M Maphis <NMaphis@salud.unm.edu>
Sent: Friday, March 14, 2025 6:12 PM
To: Cui, Changhai (NIH/NIAAA) [E] <changhai.cui@nih.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Re: Comments for KAA032041A
 
Dr. Cui,
Apologies if I wasn't clear. I am just wondering if I am going to receive any feedback from my
application. For example, whether or not it was discussed and/or scored, 3 independent
reviewers read my application and theoretically would have comments/feedback. I guess I
wonder if there is a summary statement that I will receive, or if I get no peer review on this
application because it was removed from consideration.
Please let me know if had any other questions. 
Sincerely,
Nikki
 
 
--

Nikki Maphis, PhD (she/her/hers)

UNM T32 Postdoctoral Scholar (CASAA)

IRACDA/ASERT Postdoctoral Research Fellow 

National Postdoctoral Association IMPACT Fellow

Linsenbardt Lab

Department of Neurosciences

University of New Mexico

Albuquerque, NM 87131

Connect with me @LinkedIn

Check out my publications here!

4/14/25, 4:06 PM Mail - Nicole M Maphis - Outlook

https://outlook.office.com/mail/id/AAkALgAAAAAAHYQDEapmEc2byACqAC%2FEWg0A1j%2BoXtvy1UmcdpRVjtX%2BsgAEGot4jAAA 3/5
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March 31, 2025
This funding opportunity was updated to align with agency priorities. Carefully reread the full funding opportunity and

make any needed adjustments to your application prior to submission.

Department of Health and Human Services

Part 1. Overview Information
Participating Organization(s)
National Institutes of Health (NIH (http://www.nih.gov))

Components of Participating Organizations

4/16/25, 1:00 PM PA-24-194: NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 Independent Clinical Trial Not Allowed)

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-194.html 1/25
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NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH (NIH (https://www.nih.gov/))

National Eye Institute (NEI (https://www.nei.nih.gov/))

National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI (https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/))

National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI (https://www.genome.gov/))

National Institute on Aging (NIA (https://www.nia.nih.gov/))

National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA (https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID (https://www.niaid.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases (NIAMS (https://www.niams.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering (NIBIB (https://www.nibib.nih.gov/))

Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD (https://www.nichd.nih.gov/))

National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD (https://www.nidcd.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (NIDCR (https://www.nidcr.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK (https://www.niddk.nih.gov/))

National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA (https://www.drugabuse.gov/))

National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS (https://www.niehs.nih.gov/))

National Institute of General Medical Sciences (NIGMS (https://www.nigms.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH (https://www.nimh.nih.gov/index.shtml))

National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS (https://www.ninds.nih.gov/))

National Institute of Nursing Research (NINR (https://www.ninr.nih.gov/))

National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities (NIMHD (https://www.nimhd.nih.gov/))

National Library of Medicine (NLM (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/))

National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH (https://nccih.nih.gov/))

All applications to this funding opportunity announcement should fall within the mission of the Institutes/Centers. The following NIH Offices
may co-fund applications assigned to those Institutes/Centers.

Office of Research on Women's Health (ORWH (https://orwh.od.nih.gov/))

Office of Data Science Strategy (ODSS (https://datascience.nih.gov/about/odss))

Special Note: Not all NIH Institutes and Centers participate in Parent Announcements. Candidatesshould carefully note which ICs
participate in this announcement and view their respective areas of research interest and requirements at the Table of IC-Specific
Information, Requirements and Staff Contacts (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-information-PA-24-194.html)
website. ICs that do not participate in this announcement will not consider applications for funding. Consultation with NIH staff before
submitting an application is strongly encouraged.

Funding Opportunity Title

NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 – Independent Clinical Trial Not
Allowed)

Activity Code

K99 (//grants.nih.gov/grants/funding/ac_search_results.htm?text_curr=k99&Search.x=0&Search.y=0&Search_Type=Activity)/R00
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/funding/ac_search_results.htm?text_curr=r00&Search.x=0&Search.y=0&Search_Type=Activity) Career Transition
Award/Research Transition Award

4/16/25, 1:00 PM PA-24-194: NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 Independent Clinical Trial Not Allowed)

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-194.html 2/25
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Announcement Type
Reissue of PA-20-188 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-20-188.html)

Related Notices
See Notices of Special Interest (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/NOSIs_targetingList.cfm?GuideDocID=40824) associated with
this funding opportunity

March 31, 2025 - This funding opportunity was updated to align with agency priorities. Carefully reread the full funding opportunity
and make any needed adjustments to your application prior to submission.
January 15, 2025 - Notice of the Discontinuation of NCI's Participation in PA-24-193, PA-24-194 & PA-24-195 NIH Pathway to
Independence Award (Parent K99/R00). See Notice NOT-CA-25-021 (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-CA-25-
021.html).
April 04, 2024 - Overview of Grant Application and Review Changes for Due Dates on or after January 25, 2025. See Notice NOT-
OD-24-084 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-24-084.html)
September 25, 2024 - Notice of a Virtual Question and Answer "Informational Session" with NICHD Staff for the K99/R00 Pathway
to Independence Award. See Notice NOT-HD-24-037 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-HD-24-037.html).
June 4, 2024 - Guidance Regarding Reduction of Effort for NIMHD Individual Mentored K Awards. See Notice NOT-MD-24-017
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-MD-24-017.html)
May 30, 2024 - Notice to Alert the Public of NIDA's Career Development Award Salary Limits. See Notice NOT-DA-24-032
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-DA-24-032.html)
May 7, 2024 - Notice of Information: NIAID to Increase K99, K25, and K01 Salary and Research Support and R00 Years of
Support. See Notice NOT-AI-24-038 (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-AI-24-038.html)
August 31, 2022- Implementation Changes for Genomic Data Sharing Plans Included with Applications Due on or after January 25,
2023. See Notice NOT-OD-22-198 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/not-od-22-198.html).
August 5, 2022- Implementation Details for the NIH Data Management and Sharing Policy. See Notice NOT-OD-22-189
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-22-189.html).

Funding Opportunity Number (FON)

PA-24-194

Companion Funding Opportunity
PA-24-193 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-193.html)  K99
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/funding/ac_search_results.htm?text_curr=K99&&Search.x=0&&Search.y=0&&Search_Type=Activity)/ R00
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/funding/ac_search_results.htm?text_curr=R00&&Search.x=0&&Search.y=0&&Search_Type=Activity) Career
Transition Award/Research Transition Award
PA-24-195 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-195.html)  K99
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/funding/ac_search_results.htm?text_curr=K99&&Search.x=0&&Search.y=0&&Search_Type=Activity)/ R00
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/funding/ac_search_results.htm?text_curr=R00&&Search.x=0&&Search.y=0&&Search_Type=Activity) Career
Transition Award/Research Transition Award

,

,

Number of Applications

See Section III. 3. Additional Information on Eligibility.

Assistance Listing Number(s)

93.855, 93.213, 93.242, 93.865, 93.846, 93.286, 93.859, 93.866, 93.121, 93.879, 93.172, 93.173, 93.847, 93.867, 93.313, 93.113,
93.279, 93.361, 93.398, 93.307, 93.853, 93.310, 93.837, 93.233, 93.838, 93.839, 93.840, 93.273

Funding Opportunity Purpose

4/16/25, 1:00 PM PA-24-194: NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 Independent Clinical Trial Not Allowed)

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-194.html 3/25
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Key Dates

The following table includes NIH standard due dates (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/how-to-apply-application-guide/due-dates-and-
submission-policies/due-dates.htm) marked with an asterisk.

Application Due Dates Review and Award Cycles

New

Renewal /
Resubmission
/ Revision (as

allowed)

AIDS -
New/Renewal/Resubmission/Revision,

as allowed

Scientific
Merit

Review

Advisory
Council
Review

Earliest
Start Date

June 12,
2024 *

July 12, 2024 * September 07, 2024 * November
2024

January 2025 April 2025

October 12,
2024 *

November 12,
2024 *

January 07, 2025 * March 2025 May 2025 July 2025

February
12, 2025 *

March 12, 2025 * May 07, 2025 * July 2025 October 2025 December
2025

June 12,
2025 *

July 12, 2025 * September 07, 2025 * November
2025

January 2026 April 2026

October 12,
2025 *

November 12,
2025 *

January 07, 2026 * March 2026 May 2026 July 2026

February
12, 2026 *

March 12, 2026 * May 07, 2026 * July 2026 October 2026 December
2026

June 12,
2026 *

July 12, 2026 * September 07, 2026 * November
2026

January 2027 April 2027

The purpose of the NIH Pathway to Independence Award (K99/R00) program is to facilitate a timely transition of outstanding postdoctoral
researchers with a research and/or clinical doctorate degree from mentored, postdoctoral research positions to independent, tenure-track
or equivalent faculty positions. The program will provide independent NIH research support during this transition in order to help awardees
to launch competitive, independent research careers.

This Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) is designed specifically for candidates proposing research that does not involve leading an
independent clinical trial, a clinical trial feasibility study, or an ancillary clinical trial. Under this NOFO candidates are permitted to propose
a research experience in a clinical trial led by a mentor or co-mentor. Those proposing a clinical trial or an ancillary clinical trial as lead
investigator, should apply to the companion NOFO (PA-24-193 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-193.html)).

Posted Date

April 24, 2024

Open Date (Earliest Submission Date)
May 10, 2024

Letter of Intent Due Date(s)
Not Applicable

4/16/25, 1:00 PM PA-24-194: NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 Independent Clinical Trial Not Allowed)

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-194.html 4/25
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Application Due Dates Review and Award Cycles

New

Renewal /
Resubmission
/ Revision (as

allowed)

AIDS -
New/Renewal/Resubmission/Revision,

as allowed

Scientific
Merit

Review

Advisory
Council
Review

Earliest
Start Date

October 12,
2026 *

November 12,
2026 *

January 07, 2027 * March 2027 May 2027 July 2027

February
12, 2027 *

March 12, 2027 * May 07, 2027 * July 2027 October 2027 December
2027

Required Application Instructions
It is critical that applicants follow the instructions in the Career Development (K) Instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) except where instructed to do otherwise (in this NOFO or in a Notice from
the NIH Guide for Grants and Contracts (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11164)). Conformance to all requirements (both
in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) and the NOFO) is required and
strictly enforced. Applicants must read and follow all application instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) as well as any program-specific instructions noted in Section IV. When the
program-specific instructions deviate from those in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400), follow the program-specific instructions. Applications that do not comply
with these instructions may be delayed or not accepted for review.

There are several options available to submit your application through Grants.gov to NIH and Department of Health and Human Services
partners. You must use one of these submission options to access the application forms for this opportunity.

1. Use the NIH ASSIST system to prepare, submit and track your application online.

Apply Online Using ASSIST

2. Use an institutional system-to-system (S2S) solution to prepare and submit your application to Grants.gov and eRA Commons
(https://public.era.nih.gov/commons/) to track your application. Check with your institutional officials regarding availability.

3. Use Grants.gov (https://grants.gov/search-grants?oppStatuses=closed|archived|posted|forecasted&fon=PA-24-194) Workspace to
prepare and submit your application and eRA Commons (http://public.era.nih.gov/commons/) to track your application.

Table of Contents
Part 1. Overview Information

Key Dates
Part 2. Full Text of Announcement

Section I. Funding Opportunity Description

All applications are due by 5:00 PM local time of applicant organization.

Candidates are encouraged to apply early to allow adequate time to make any corrections to errors found in the application during the
submission process by the due date.

Expiration Date
May 08, 2027

Due Dates for E.O. 12372

Not Applicable
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Section II. Award Information
Other Award Budget Information
Section III. Eligibility Information
Section IV. Application and Submission Information
Section V. Application Review Information
Section VI. Award Administration Information
Section VII. Agency Contacts
Section VIII. Other Information

Part 2. Full Text of Announcement

Section I. Funding Opportunity Description
The overall goal of the NIH Research Career Development program is to help ensure that a pool of highly trained scientists is available in
appropriate scientific disciplines to address the Nation's biomedical, behavioral, and clinical research needs. NIH Institutes and Centers
(ICs) support a variety of mentored and non-mentored career development award programs designed to foster the transition of new
investigators to research independence and to support established investigators in achieving specific objectives. Candidates should review
the different career development (K) award programs to determine the best program to support their goals. More information about Career
programs may be found at the NIH Research Training and Career Development (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?
id=41159) website.

The purpose of the NIH Pathway to Independence Award (K99/R00) is to help postdoctoral researchers complete needed, mentored
training and transition in a timely manner to independent, tenure-track or equivalent faculty positions. The K99/R00 award is intended to
foster the development of an independent research program that will be competitive for subsequent independent funding and that will help
advance the mission of the NIH. Candidates must have no more than 4 years of postdoctoral research experience at the time of the initial
or the subsequent resubmission or revision application. The K99/R00 award is intended for individuals who require at least 12 months of
mentored research and career development (K99 phase) before transitioning to the R00 award phase of the program. Consequently, the
strongest candidates will require, and will propose, a well-conceived plan for 1–2 years of substantive mentored research and career
development that will help them become competitive candidates for tenure-track faculty positions and prepare them to launch robust,
independent research programs. An individual who cannot provide a compelling rationale for at least one year of additional mentored
research experience and career development at the time of award is not a strong candidate for this award.

Individuals must be in mentored, postdoctoral training positions to be eligible to apply to the K99/R00 program. If a candidate achieves
independence (any faculty or non-mentored research position) before a K99 award is made, neither the K99, nor the R00 award, will be
made. 

The K99/R00 award will provide up to 5 years of support in two phases. The initial (K99) phase will provide support for up to 2 years of
mentored postdoctoral research training and career development. The second (R00) phase will provide up to 3 years of independent
research support, which is contingent on satisfactory progress during the K99 phase and an approved, independent, tenure-track (or
equivalent) faculty position. The two award phases are intended to be continuous in time. Therefore, although exceptions may be possible
in limited circumstances, R00 awards will generally only be made to those K99 PDs/PIs who accept independent, tenure-track (or
equivalent) faculty positions by the end of the K99 award period.

Additional Information for Clinician-Scientists: For the purposes of this program, physician-scientists include individuals with an MD, DO,
DDS/DMD, DVM/VMD, or nurses with research doctoral degrees who devote the majority of their time to biomedical research. The
K99/R00 is intended for those physician-scientists who already have substantial research training and are dedicated to initiating a strong,
research-intensive career as physician-scientists. The K99/R00 program is designed to facilitate a timely transition of outstanding
physician-scientists from mentored, research positions to independent, tenure-track or equivalent faculty positions, and to provide
independent NIH research support during the transition. Individuals who need a longer period of mentored career development before they
are prepared to begin the transition to research independence should consider the K08 or K23 program (see: K Kiosk
(https://researchtraining.nih.gov/programs/career-development)).

Note: This Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) is designed specifically for proposing research that does not involve leading an
independent clinical trial, a clinical trial feasibility study, or an ancillary clinical trial. Under this NOFO, candidates are permitted to propose
a research experience in a clinical trial led by a mentor or co-mentor. Those proposing a clinical trial or an ancillary clinical trial as lead
investigator, should apply to the companion NOFO (PA-24-193 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-193.html)).

Special Note: Because of the differences in individual Institute and Center (IC) program requirements for this NOFO, prospective
candidates are strongly encouraged to consult the Table of IC-Specific Information, Requirements and Staff Contacts
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(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-information-PA-24-194.html), to make sure that their application is appropriate for
the requirements of one of the participating NIH ICs.
See Section VIII. Other Information for award authorities and regulations.

Section II. Award Information

Other Award Budget Information

Funding Instrument

Grant: A financial assistance mechanism providing money, property, or both to an eligible entity to carry out an approved project or activity.

Application Types Allowed
New
Resubmission
Revision

The OER Glossary (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11116) and the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) provides details on these application types.

Clinical Trial?

Not Allowed: Only accepting applications that do not propose clinical trials.

Note: Candidates may propose to gain experience in a clinical trial led by a mentor/co-mentor as part of their research career
development.

Need help determining whether you are doing a clinical trial? (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82370)

Funds Available and Anticipated Number of Awards

The number of awards is contingent upon NIH appropriations and the submission of a sufficient number of meritorious applications.

Award Budget

Award budgets are composed of salary and other program-related expenses, as described below.

Award Project Period
The total project period may not exceed 5 years.

Salary
Salary and research costs may be requested to the level provided by the awarding Institute or Center. Candidates should consult the
following table for IC-specific, programmatic and budgetary information (see the Table of IC-Specific Information, Requirements and Staff
Contacts (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-information-PA-24-194.html)). Further guidance on budgeting for career
development salaries is provided in the  How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400). 

Intramural Program: Mentored award recipients in the NIH intramural program will be supported by intramural funds provided by the NIH
Institute/Center intramural laboratory in which they are conducting their research. Budget details for the mentored phase will be
negotiated with the sponsoring intramural laboratory. Salary will be consistent with that offered scientists in similar, intramural NIH
positions.

Extramural Program: Mentored award recipients at an extramural sponsoring institution/organization will be supported by NIH extramural
funds. The requested salary must be consistent both with the established salary structure at the institution and with salaries actually
provided by the institution from its own funds to other staff members with equivalent qualifications, rank, and responsibilities in the
department concerned. Further guidance on budgeting for career development salaries is provided in the SF424 (R&R) Application Guide.
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NIH grants policies as described in the NIH Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11120) will apply to the
applications submitted and awards made from this NOFO.

Section III. Eligibility Information
1. Eligible Applicants

Eligible Organizations
Higher Education Institutions

Public/State Controlled Institutions of Higher Education
Private Institutions of Higher Education

Nonprofits Other Than Institutions of Higher Education

Nonprofits with 501(c)(3) IRS Status (Other than Institutions of Higher Education)
Nonprofits without 501(c)(3) IRS Status (Other than Institutions of Higher Education)

For-Profit Organizations

Small Businesses
For-Profit Organizations (Other than Small Businesses)

Local Governments

State Governments
County Governments
City or Township Governments
Special District Governments
Indian/Native American Tribal Governments (Federally Recognized)
Indian/Native American Tribal Governments (Other than Federally Recognized)

Federal Governments

Eligible Agencies of the Federal Government
U.S. Territory or Possession

Other

In addition, the candidate may derive additional compensation for effort associated with other Federal sources or awards provided the
total salary derived from all Federal sources does not exceed the maximum legislated salary rate (see
https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/salcap_summary.htm, (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/salcap_summary.htm)) and the total percent
effort does not exceed 100%. See also NOT-OD-17-094 (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/not-od-17-094.html).

Independent Phase (R00)

The total cost for the independent phase (R00) may not exceed $249,000 per year. This amount includes salary, fringe benefits, research
costs, and applicable indirect costs. Indirect costs will be reimbursed at the extramural sponsoring institution' s indirect cost rate. Indirect
costs requested by consortium participants are included in the total cost limitation.

Other Program-Related Expenses

Participating NIH Institutes and Centers will provide research development support for the award recipient (see Table of IC-Specific
Information, Requirements and Staff Contacts (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-information-PA-24-194.html)).
These funds may be used for the following expenses (a) tuition and fees related to career development; (b) research-related expenses,
such as supplies, equipment and technical personnel; (c) travel to research meetings or training; and (d) statistical services including
personnel and computer time. .

Salary for mentors, secretarial and administrative assistants, etc. is not allowed.

Indirect Costs

For the extramural K99 phase, Indirect Costs (also known as Facilities & Administrative [F&A] Costs) are reimbursed at 8% of modified
total direct costs. For the R00 phase, indirect costs will be reimbursed at the extramural sponsoring institution’s indirect cost rate.
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Independent School Districts
Public Housing Authorities/Indian Housing Authorities
Native American Tribal Organizations (other than Federally recognized tribal governments)
Faith-based or Community-based Organizations
Regional Organizations

The sponsoring institution may be private (profit or nonprofit) or public, including the NIH Intramural Programs and other Federal laboratories.

The applicant institution will be the mentored phase (K99) institution. All institution/organization types listed above are eligible for both the
mentored (K99) and independent (R00) phase, with the following exceptions: (1) Eligible agencies of the Federal government, such as the
NIH intramural program, are eligible only for the mentored phase; and (2) Eligibility of organizations, other than institutions of higher
education, for the R00 phase depends on the nature of the appointment, and the ability of the PD/PI to conduct independent research and
apply for NIH research (R01 or R01-equivalent) grants.

Foreign Organizations
Non-domestic (non-U.S.) Entities (Foreign Organizations) are not eligible to apply.

Non-domestic (non-U.S.) components of U.S. Organizations are not eligible to apply.

Foreign components, as defined in the NIH Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11118), are allowed. 

Required Registrations
Applicant Organizations

Applicant organizations must complete and maintain the following registrations as described in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) to be eligible to apply for or receive an award. All registrations must be
completed prior to the application being submitted. Registration can take 6 weeks or more, so applicants should begin the registration
process as soon as possible. Failure to complete registrations in advance of a due date is not a valid reason for a late submission, please
reference NIH Grants Policy Statement 2.3.9.2 Electronically Submitted Applications (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?
id=82423) for additional information.

System for Award Management (SAM) – (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82390) Applicants must complete and
maintain an active registration, which requires renewal at least annually. The renewal process may require as much time as the
initial registration. SAM registration includes the assignment of a Commercial and Government Entity (CAGE) Code for domestic
organizations which have not already been assigned a CAGE Code.

NATO Commercial and Government Entity (NCAGE) Code (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11176) – Foreign
organizations must obtain an NCAGE code (in lieu of a CAGE code) in order to register in SAM.
Unique Entity Identifier (UEI) - A UEI is issued as part of the SAM.gov registration process. The same UEI must be used for all
registrations, as well as on the grant application.

eRA Commons (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11123) - Once the unique organization identifier is established,
organizations can register with eRA Commons in tandem with completing their Grants.gov registration; all registrations must be in
place by time of submission. eRA Commons requires organizations to identify at least one Signing Official (SO) and at least one
Program Director/Principal Investigator (PD/PI) account in order to submit an application.
Grants.gov (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82300) – Applicants must have an active SAM registration in order to
complete the Grants.gov registration.

Program Directors/Principal Investigators (PD(s)/PI(s))

All PD(s)/PI(s) must have an eRA Commons account.  PD(s)/PI(s) should work with their organizational officials to either create a new
account or to affiliate their existing account with the applicant organization in eRA Commons. If the PD/PI is also the organizational Signing
Official, they must have two distinct eRA Commons accounts, one for each role. Obtaining an eRA Commons account can take up to 2
weeks.

All PD(s)/PI(s) must be registered with ORCID (https://orcid.org/). The personal profile associated with the PD(s)/PI(s) eRA Commons
account must be linked to a valid ORCID ID. For more information on linking an ORCID ID to an eRA Commons personal profile see the
ORCID topic in our eRA Commons online help (https://era.nih.gov/erahelp/Commons/default.htm#orcid.htm%3FTocPath%3D_____29).

Eligible Individuals (Program Director/Principal Investigator)
Candidates for the K99/R00 are strongly encouraged to obtain confirmation of their eligibility from the relevant IC before they begin to
prepare their applications. It is incumbent upon the candidate to provide evidence that they meet all of the eligibility criteria outlined below.

Any candidate with the skills, knowledge, and resources necessary to carry out the proposed research as the Program Director/Principal
Investigator (PD/PI) is invited to work with their mentor and organization to develop an application for support. Multiple PDs/PIs are not
allowed.
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K99/R00 applicants must have no more than 4 years of postdoctoral research experience as of the relevant application due date
regardless of whether it is a new or resubmission application. Individuals must be in mentored, postdoctoral training positions to be eligible
to apply to the K99/R00 program. If the candidate achieves independence (i.e., any faculty or non-mentored research position) before a
K99 award is made, neither the K99 award, nor the R00 award, will be issued.

Consistent with the NIH Extension Policy for Early Stage Investigator Status (ESI) (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-
18-235.html), NIH will approve an extension of one year for childbirth within the 4 year K99 eligibility window. Applicants who will be PD/PIs
on a K99 application must provide the child’s date of birth in the extension request justification submitted to IC program officials and/or
scientific/research contacts listed in the NOFO at least 12 weeks before submitting an application.

In addition, parental, medical, military, or other well-justified leave for personal or family situations of generally less than 12 months
duration is typically not included in the 4-year eligibility limit, nor is clinical training with no research involvement (e.g., full-time residency
training). Only time dedicated to research activities counts toward the 4-year limit. Part-time postdoctoral research training, related to
personal or family situations or occurring during a research residency or fellowship, will be pro-rated accordingly. 

Additional clarifications are provided under Frequently Asked Questions (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/new_investigators/QsandAs.htm).
Potential candidates are encouraged to discuss their individual situation with a NIH Institute or Center Scientific Program Contact
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-information-PA-24-194.html) before applying.   

There is no citizenship requirement for K99 candidates. A candidate may be a citizen or a non-citizen national of the United States, have
been lawfully admitted for permanent residence (i.e., possess a currently valid Permanent Resident Card USCIS Form I-551, or other legal
verification of such status), or be a non-U.S. citizen.

For applications submitted on behalf of non-U.S. citizens with temporary U.S. visas, visa status during each phase of the K99/R00 award
must allow the PD/PI to conduct the proposed research at the applicant institution. For the K99 phase of the award, the applicant institution
is responsible for determining and documenting, in the K99 application, that the candidate’s visa will allow them to remain in the U.S. long
enough to complete the K99 phase of the award. For the R00 phase of the award, the U.S. institution at which the R00 phase of the award
will be conducted is responsible for determining and documenting, in the R00 application, that the PD/PI’s visa will allow the PD/PI to
remain in the U.S. for the duration of the R00 award.

Candidates for the K99/R00 award must have a clinical or research doctorate (including PhD, MD, DO, DC, ND, DDS, DMD, DVM, ScD,
DNS, PharmD or equivalent doctoral degrees). Clinicians (including those with MD, DDS, DVM and other licensed health professionals) in
a clinical faculty position that denotes independence in clinical responsibilities but not in research may also be eligible for the K99/R00
award.
 
Individuals are NOT eligible if they:

Have currently or previously held an independent research faculty or tenure-track faculty position, or its equivalent, in academia,
industry or elsewhere; or
Have more than 4 years of related postdoctoral research training at the time of initial application or resubmission; or
Have been an independent PD/PI on NIH research grants (e.g. R01, R03, R21), NIH career development awards (e.g., K01, K07,
K08, K23, K25), or other peer-reviewed NIH or non-NIH research grants over $100,000 direct costs per year, or Project Leaders on
sub-projects of program project (P01) or center (P50) grants or the equivalent.

  
Ph.D. (or equivalent research doctorate degree) candidates in positions other than postdoctoral fellow positions: It is recognized
that some institutions appoint postdoctoral fellows in positions with other titles although they are still in non-independent, mentored training
positions. Candidates in such positions are encouraged to obtain confirmation of their eligibility from the relevant IC before they begin to
prepare their applications. It is incumbent upon the candidate to provide evidence that their position complies with the intent of this
eligibility requirement. If a potential candidate  is in a position that is not clearly identifiable as a postdoctoral training position, the
candidate should provide the relevant NIH Institute or Center an official statement of the institution’s policy (e.g. published position
description in an official institutional document) which documents the position as a mentored, postdoctoral training position.
 
Clinicians (including those with M.D., D.D.S, D.V.M. and other licensed professionals) in positions not designated as postdoctoral
positions: Following clinical training or fellowship training periods, clinicians often obtain a clinical faculty position that denotes
independence in clinical responsibilities but not in research. A clinical faculty member who does not hold an independent research faculty
position may be eligible for the K99/R00 award, and should contact a Program Director at the relevant NIH Institute for guidance. Clinicians
in such positions are encouraged to obtain confirmation of their eligibility before they begin to prepare their applications. Such individuals
may also wish to consider other career awards (see K Kiosk (//grants.nih.gov/training/careerdevelopmentawards.htm)) available for junior
faculty development.
 
The following is provided as an aid to distinguish independent from non-independent positions.  However, it is not sufficient
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merely to cite one or more of the following items to document eligibility.
 
Evidence for non-independence may include:

The candidate’s research is entirely funded by another investigator’s grants.
The candidate’s research is conducted entirely in another investigator’s assigned space.
According to institutional policy, the candidate cannot hire postdoctoral fellows or technical staff or be the responsible supervisor of
graduate students.
According to institutional policy, the candidate is not allowed to submit an application as the PD/PI of an NIH research grant
application (e.g., R01).
The candidate lacks other rights and privileges of faculty, such as attendance at faculty meetings.

  
Conversely, evidence for independence, and therefore lack of eligibility, includes:

The candidate has a full-time faculty position.
The candidate received a start-up package for support of their independent research.
The candidate has research space dedicated to their own research.
The candidate may attend faculty meetings, be the responsible supervisor for graduate students, and/or hire technical support or
postdoctoral fellows.
The candidate is eligible to apply for independent research funding as the PD/PI of an NIH research grant.

2. Cost Sharing

This NOFO does not require cost sharing as defined in the NIH Grants Policy Statement Section 1.2 Definitions of Terms
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11126). 

3. Additional Information on Eligibility

Number of Applications
Applicant organizations may submit more than one application, provided that each application is scientifically distinct, and each is from a
different candidate.

NIH will not accept duplicate or highly overlapping applications under review at the same time per NIH Grants Policy Statement Section
2.3.7.4 Submission of Resubmission Application (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82415). An individual may not have two or
more competing NIH career development applications pending review concurrently. In addition, NIH will not accept:

A new (A0) application that is submitted before issuance of the summary statement from the review of an overlapping new (A0) or
resubmission (A1) application.
A resubmission (A1) application that is submitted before issuance of the summary statement from the review of the previous new (A0)
application.
An application that has substantial overlap with another application pending appeal of initial peer review. (See NIH Grants Policy
Statement 2.3.9.4 Similar, Essentially Identical, or Identical Applications (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82423)).

Level of Effort
K99 Phase. At the time of award, the candidate must have a full-time appointment at the academic institution. Candidates are required to
commit a minimum of 75% of full-time professional effort (i.e., a minimum of 9 person-months) to their program of career development.
Candidates may engage in other duties as part of the remaining 25% of their full-time professional effort not covered by this award, as long
as such duties do not interfere with or detract from the proposed career development program. Physician-scientists in surgical specialties
may request a minimum of 50% of full-time professional effort.

Candidates who have VA appointments may not consider part of the VA effort toward satisfying the full time requirement at the applicant
institution. Candidates with VA appointments should contact the staff person in the relevant Institute or Center prior to preparing an
application to discuss their eligibility.

After the receipt of the award, adjustments to the required level of effort may be made in certain circumstances.  See NOT-OD-18-156
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-18-156.html) and NIH Grants Policy Statement
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/html5/section_12/12.3.6_level_of_effort.htm), Section 12.3.6.4 Temporary Adjustments to the
Percent Effort Requirement for more details

R00 Phase. Although candidates are required to devote no less than 75% (no less than 50% effort for surgical specialties) of their full-time,
12-month professional effort to research (i.e., full-time for 9 person-months), the required 9 person-months of research effort need not be
devoted exclusively to the R00-supported research.

Mentor(s)
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Before submitting the application, the candidate must identify a mentor who will supervise the proposed career development and research
experience. The mentor should be an active investigator in the area of the proposed research and be committed both to the career
development of the candidate and to the direct supervision of the candidate’s research. The mentor must document the availability of
sufficient research support and facilities. Candidates are encouraged to identify more than one mentor, i.e., a mentoring team (advisory
committee), if this is deemed advantageous for providing expert advice in all aspects of the research career development program. In such
cases, one individual must be identified as the primary mentor who will coordinate the candidate’s research. Candidates holding a clinical
doctorate should include at least one individual with a clinical doctorate on the mentoring team. Candidates also are encouraged to
propose a mentoring team that will provide additional guidance typically towards professional aspects of the candidate’s career
development.The candidate must work with the mentor(s) in preparing the application. The mentor, or a member of the mentoring team,
should have a successful track record of mentoring individuals at the candidate’s career stage.

The mentor(s) or mentoring team must demonstrate appropriate expertise, experience, and ability to guide the candidate..If the primary
mentor has limited training experience, a co-mentor with a strong, successful track record as a mentor should also be included.

Institutional Environment
The applicant institution must have a strong, well-established record of research and career development activities and faculty qualified to
serve as mentors in biomedical, behavioral, or clinical research.

Section IV. Application and Submission Information
1. Requesting an Application Package

Buttons to access the online ASSIST system or to download application forms are available in Part 1 of this NOFO. See your administrative
office for instructions if you plan to use an institutional system-to-system solution.

2. Content and Form of Application Submission

It is critical that applicants follow the instructions in the Career Development (K) Instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) except where instructed in this notice of funding opportunity to do otherwise.
Conformance to the requirements in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) is
required and strictly enforced. Applications that are out of compliance with these instructions may be delayed or not accepted for review.

For information on Application Submission and Receipt, visit Frequently Asked Questions – Application Guide, Electronic Submission of Grant
Applications (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=41137).

Page Limitations

All page limitations described in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) and the
Table of Page Limits (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=61134) must be followed.

Instructions for Application Submission
The following section supplements the instructions found in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) and should be used for preparing an application to this NOFO.

SF424(R&R) Cover

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

SF424(R&R) Project/Performance Site Locations

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

Other Project Information

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

SF424(R&R) Senior/Key Person Profile Expanded

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

R&R Budget

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

The following additional instructions apply to this NOFO: 
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Provide itemized budget information for each budget period covered under the K99 phase.

Itemized budget information is not required for the R00 phase; a total requested amount for each budget period is acceptable. However,
some basic information must be completed in order for NIH to successfully process the budget form. For each budget period of the R00
phase:

Select the appropriate Budget Type
Provide the Budget Period Start Date and End Date
In Section A: Senior/Key Persons provide an entry for the PD/PI, including the appropriate level of effort, $0 for Requested
Salary and $0 for Fringe Benefits
In Section F: Other Direct Costs add a line item titled R00 Independent Phase and provide the total request for that period (up to
$249,000).

At the time of transition to the R00 phase, the R00 applicant institution will submit a detailed budget for each budget period of the R00
project period that reflects the direct and indirect costs at the R00 applicant institution.

PHS 398 Cover Page Supplement

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

PHS 398 Career Development Award Supplemental Form
The PHS 398 Career Development Award Supplemental Form is comprised of the following sections:

Candidate
Research Plan
Other Candidate Information
Mentor, Co-Mentor, Consultant, Collaborators
Environment & Institutional Commitment to the Candidate
Other Research Plan Sections
Appendix

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

Candidate Section

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed,
with the following additional instructions: 

Candidate Information and Goals for Career Development

Candidate’s Background

Describe the candidate’s commitment to a career in a biomedical, behavioral, or clinical research field relevant to the mission of one
of the participating NIH ICs. 
Describe the candidate’s potential to develop into a successful, independent investigator.

Career Goals and Objectives​

Describe the candidate’s current and long-term research and career objectives.
Present a scientific history that: (1) shows a logical progression from the candidate’s prior research and career development
experiences to the training and research experiences proposed for the mentored phase of the award (K99) and subsequently to the
independent phase of the award (R00); and (2) justifies the need for further mentored career development to become an
independent research investigator. 
If currently supported by an institutional training grant or individual fellowship award (such as provided through the Ruth L.
Kirschstein NRSA program), describe the candidate’s current research training or fellowship program.

Describe how the candidate plans to separate scientifically from his/her mentor and advance to research independence.

Candidate’s Plan for Career Development/Training Activities During Award Period

A systematic plan should be presented for obtaining the biomedical, behavioral, or clinical science background, research
experience, and career development activities necessary to launch an independent research career. Describe current activities and
how they relate to the candidate’s career development plans and career goals. Describe proposed activities, e.g., those that will
lead to new and/or enhanced research skills and knowledge, as well as related skills such as grant-writing, communication,
leadership, and laboratory management. The career development plan must be specifically tailored to meet the needs of the
candidate and the goal of achieving independence as a researcher.  
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Describe how the skills and knowledge obtained during the mentored phase will enhance research productivity and facilitate the
development of new approaches and directions for investigation. Describe how the career development plan will promote the
candidate’s success and transition to scientific independence. Candidates must justify the need for the award, particularly the
mentored (K99) phase, and must provide a convincing case that the proposed period of support (1-2 years as a mentored candidate
followed by up to 3 years as an independent scientist) will substantially enhance their career and/or will allow the pursuit of a novel
or promising approach to a particular research problem. Candidates should make clear why additional mentored research and
career development are critical before transitioning to research independence and pursuit of the proposed independent phase
research.
The candidate must describe a plan, including a timeline with milestones, for evaluation of their progress during the mentored phase
and for the transition to the independent phase. 

Research Plan Section

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed,
with the following additional instructions:

Research Strategy

The research plan must span both phases of the K99/R00 award. The candidate should clearly indicate the research planned for
each phase. This narrative should describe what the candidate will accomplish during the mentored phase research that will enable
them  to launch an independent research program (i.e., what does the candidate still need to accomplish during the mentored phase
in order to compete successfully once independence is achieved).
The research plan should state the significance, innovation and approach of the proposed research during the K99 and R00 phases
of the award. The research plan should provide a detailed rationale, experimental approach, and expected/alternative outcomes for
the proposed studies. Although it is anticipated that candidates will be best able to describe their current and past research, the
research plan for the R00 phase of the award should be described in sufficient detail for reviewers to evaluate the merit of this
component of the application.
Describe the relationship between the mentor’s research and the candidate’s proposed research.  Describe how the candidate will
gain independence from their mentor(s) and separate their scientific research program from that of the mentor(s).

If the candidate is proposing to gain experience in a clinical trial, ancillary clinical trial or a clinical trial feasibility study as part of his
or her research career development, describe the relationship of the proposed research project to the clinical trial.

Training in the Responsible Conduct of Research

All applications must include a plan to fulfill NIH requirements for instruction in the Responsible Conduct of Research (RCR). See
How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) for instructions.

Mentor, Co-Mentor, Consultant, Collaborators Section
All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be
followed, with the following additional instructions:

Plans and Statements of Mentor and Co-mentor(s)

The application must include a statement from the primary mentor that provides: 1) information on their research qualifications and
previous experience as a research supervisor; 2) a plan describing the nature of the supervision and mentoring that will occur during
the proposed K99 award period, including how the candidate’s scientific and professional independence will be promoted; 3) a
description of the elements of the planned research training and career development, including any formal course-work; 4) a plan for
transitioning the candidate from the mentored phase to the independent phase of the award and a description of how the mentor will
help the candidate achieve scientific independence from their mentor(s); 5) a statement identifying  the components of the proposed
research that the K99 applicant can take when they transition to research independence and that can be part of their independent
(R00) phase award; and 6) when appropriate, a statement  affirming any  resources and reagents that can be taken by the applicant
to the independent phase of the award. 
The mentor should have sufficient independent research support to cover the costs of the proposed K99 research project in excess
of the allowable costs of this award, and should state that needed costs will be covered. If funds are needed beyond what will be
provided by the mentor, the source of additional funds should be identified and documented in a letter signed by the responsible
individual.
Similar information must be provided by all co-mentors. If more than one mentor is proposed, the respective areas of expertise, the
responsibility of each, and the nature of the involvement with the candidate should be explicitly described. Co-mentors should
describe clearly how they will coordinate with the primary mentor and the candidate to provide an integrated mentoring effort. 
The primary mentor must agree to write and provide annual evaluations of the candidate’s progress for the initial mentored phase as
required in the annual progress report. 
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The mentor must agree to assist the candidate in transitioning to an independent research position by guiding the candidate during
the job search and negotiation process and by commenting on the R00 phase application.
If the candidate is proposing to gain experience in a clinical trial as part of their research career development, the mentor, co-
mentor, or a member of the mentoring team must include a statement to document leadership of the clinical trial, and appropriate
expertise to guide the applicant in any proposed clinical trials research experience.

Letters of Support from Collaborators, Contributors and Consultants

Signed statements must be provided by all collaborators and/or consultants confirming their participation in the project and
describing their specific roles. Unless also listed as senior/key personnel, collaborators and consultants do not need to provide their
biographical sketches. However, information should be provided clearly documenting the appropriate expertise in the proposed
areas of consulting/collaboration. 
Advisory committee members (if applicable): Signed statements must be provided by each member of the proposed advisory
committee.  These statements should confirm their participation, describe their specific roles, and document the expertise they will
contribute.  Unless also listed as senior/key personnel, these individuals do not need to provide their biographical sketches. 

Environmental and Institutional Commitment to the Candidate

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed,
with the following additional instructions: 

Description of Institutional Environment

The sponsoring institution must document a strong, well-established research and career development program related to the
candidate's area of interest, including a high-quality research environment with key faculty members and other investigators capable
of productive collaboration with the candidate. 
Describe how the institutional research environment is particularly suited for the development of the candidate's research career and
the pursuit of the proposed research plan.

Institutional Commitment to the Candidate’s Research Career Development

The sponsoring institution must provide a statement of commitment to the candidate's development into a productive, independent
investigator, i.e. conducting the proposed mentored research and career development during the K99 phase and competing for, and
transitioning to, a tenure-track assistant professor position at an academic institution.  While the K99 phase sponsoring institution is
not responsible for sponsoring the applicant during the R00 phase, it should be supportive of the candidate prior to initiation of the
R00 phase.  
Provide assurance that the candidate will be able to devote a minimum of 9 person-months (75% of full-time professional effort) to
the development of their research program. The remaining effort should be devoted to activities related to the development of the
candidate’s career as an independent scientist. 
Provide assurance that the research facilities, resources, and training opportunities, including faculty capable of productive
collaboration with the candidate, will be available for the candidate’s planned career development and research programs during the
K99 award period. 
Provide assurance that appropriate time and support for any proposed mentor(s) and/or other staff consistent with the career
development plan will be available during the K99 award period. 
For individuals in postdoctoral positions with other titles although still in non-independent, mentored training positions, provide
evidence of eligibility for the K99/R00 program.
If the candidate is not a U.S. Citizen or permanent resident, the sponsoring institution must include information about the
candidate’s visa status, an assurance that the candidate’s visa provides sufficient time to complete the K99 phase of the award at a
U.S. institution, and assurance that there are no known obstacles (e.g. home country requirement) to the candidate obtaining a visa
at the time of the R00 transition.

Other Plan(s):

Note: Effective for due dates on or after January 25, 2023, the Data Management and Sharing Plan will be attached in the Other Plan(s)
attachment in FORMS-H application forms packages.

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed, with
the following additional instructions:

All applicants planning research (funded or conducted in whole or in part by NIH) that results in the generation of scientific data are
required to comply with the instructions for the Data Management and Sharing Plan. All applications, regardless of the amount of
direct costs requested for any one year, must address a Data Management and Sharing Plan.

Appendix:

4/16/25, 1:00 PM PA-24-194: NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 Independent Clinical Trial Not Allowed)

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-194.html 15/25

Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 49 of 65



Limited items are allowed in the Appendix.  Follow all instructions for the Appendix as described in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400); any instructions provided here are in addition to the How to Apply -
Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) instructions.

PHS Human Subjects and Clinical Trials Information

When involving NIH-defined human subjects research, clinical research, and/or clinical trials (and when applicable, clinical trials research
experience) follow all instructions for the PHS Human Subjects and Clinical Trials Information form in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400), with the following additional instructions:

If you answered “Yes” to the question “Are Human Subjects Involved?” on the R&R Other Project Information form, you must include at least
one human subjects study record using the Study Record: PHS Human Subjects and Clinical Trials Information form or Delayed Onset
Study record.

Study Record: PHS Human Subjects and Clinical Trials Information

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

For NOFOs that do not allow independent clinical trials, do not complete Section 4 – Protocol Synopsis information or Section 5 - Other
Clinical Trial-related Attachments.

Delayed Onset Study

Note: Delayed onset (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/glossary.htm#DelayedOnsetStudy) does NOT apply to a study that can be described but
will not start immediately (i.e., delayed start).

All instructions in the SF424 (R&R) Application Guide must be followed.

PHS Assignment Request Form

All instructions in the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400) must be followed.

Reference Letters
Candidates must carefully follow the How to Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400),
including the time period for when reference letters will be accepted. Applications lacking the appropriate required reference letters
will not be reviewed. This is a separate process from submitting an application electronically. Reference letters are submitted directly
through the eRA Commons Submit Referee Information link and not through Grants.gov. 

3. Unique Entity Identifier and System for Award Management (SAM)

See Part 2. Section III.1 for information regarding the requirement for obtaining a unique entity identifier and for completing and maintaining
active registrations in System for Award Management (SAM), NATO Commercial and Government Entity (NCAGE) Code (if applicable), eRA
Commons, and Grants.gov

4. Submission Dates and Times

Part I. contains information about Key Dates and Times. Applicants are encouraged to submit applications before the due date to ensure they
have time to make any application corrections that might be necessary for successful submission. When a submission date falls on a
weekend or Federal holiday (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82380), the application deadline is automatically
extended to the next business day.

Organizations must submit applications to Grants.gov (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11128) (the online portal to find and
apply for grants across all Federal agencies) using ASSIST or other electronic submission systems. Applicants must then complete the
submission process by tracking the status of the application in the eRA Commons (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11123),
NIH’s electronic system for grants administration. NIH and Grants.gov systems check the application against many of the application
instructions upon submission. Errors must be corrected and a changed/corrected application must be submitted to Grants.gov on or before
the application due date and time.  If a Changed/Corrected application is submitted after the deadline, the application will be considered late.
Applications that miss the due date and time are subjected to the NIH Grants Policy Statement Section 2.3.9.2 Electronically Submitted
Applications (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82423).

Applicants are responsible for viewing their application before the due date in the eRA Commons to ensure accurate and
successful submission.

Information on the submission process and a definition of on-time submission are provided in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400).

5. Intergovernmental Review (E.O. 12372)
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This initiative is not subject to (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11142)intergovernmental review.
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/html5/section_10/10.10.1_executive_orders.htm)
6. Funding Restrictions

All NIH awards are subject to the terms and conditions, cost principles, and other considerations described in the NIH Grants Policy
Statement Section 7.9.1 Selected Items of Cost (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11143).

Pre-award costs are allowable only as described in the NIH Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?
id=11143).

7. Other Submission Requirements and Information
Applications must be submitted electronically following the instructions described in the How to Apply - Application Guide
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400). Paper applications will not be accepted.

Applicants must complete all required registrations before the application due date. Section III. Eligibility Information contains
information about registration.

For assistance with your electronic application or for more information on the electronic submission process, visit How to Apply -
Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400). If you encounter a system issue beyond your control that
threatens your ability to complete the submission process on-time, you must follow the Dealing with System Issues
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/how-to-apply-application-guide/due-dates-and-submission-policies/dealing-with-system-issues.htm)
guidance. For assistance with application submission, contact the Application Submission Contacts in Section VII.

Important reminders:

All PD(s)/PI(s) must include their eRA Commons ID in the Credential field of the Senior/Key Person Profile form. Failure to register in the
Commons and to include a valid PD/PI Commons ID in the credential field will prevent the successful submission of an electronic
application to NIH. See Section III of this NOFO for information on registration requirements.

The applicant organization must ensure that the unique entity identifier provided on the application is the same identifier used in the
organization’s profile in the eRA Commons and for the System for Award Management. Additional information may be found in the How to
Apply - Application Guide (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82400).

See more tips (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11146) for avoiding common errors.

Upon receipt, applications will be evaluated for completeness and compliance with application instructions by the Center for Scientific
Review, NIH. Applications that are incomplete or non-compliant will not be reviewed.

Post Submission Materials

Applicants are required to follow the instructions for post-submission materials, as described in the policy
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82299).

Any instructions provided here are in addition to the instructions in the policy.

Section V. Application Review Information
1. Criteria

Only the review criteria described below will be considered in the review process.  Applications submitted to the NIH in support of the NIH
mission (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11149) are evaluated for scientific and technical merit through the NIH peer review
system.

For this particular announcement, note the following: Reviewers should evaluate the candidate's potential for obtaining a tenure-track
or equivalent faculty position and developing an independent research program that will make important contributions to the field.
Reviewers should consider in their evaluation the likely value of the proposed K99 phase research and career development in facilitating
transition to research independence, and the feasibility of the proposed research project as a vehicle for developing a successful,
independent research program after transition to the R00 award phase.

Overall Impact

Reviewers should provide their assessment of the likelihood that the proposed career development and research plan will enhance the
candidate’s potential for a productive, independent scientific research career in a health-related field, taking into consideration the criteria
below in determining the overall impact score.

Scored Review Criteria
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Reviewers will consider each of the review criteria below in the determination of scientific merit, and give a separate score for each. An
application does not need to be strong in all categories to be judged likely to have major scientific impact.

  Candidate

Based on the candidate’s prior research and training experience, track record, referee’s evaluations, and the quality and originality
of prior research and the current application, what is the candidate’s potential to become a highly successful, independent
investigator who will contribute significantly to their chosen field of biomedical, behavioral, or clinical related research? 
Considering the years of postdoctoral research experience to date, what is the candidate’s record of research productivity, including
the quality of peer-reviewed scientific publications? 
What is the quality of the candidate's pre- and postdoctoral research training, with respect to development of appropriate scientific
and technical expertise? 
Given the candidate’s prior training, proposed career development plan, and the referees’ evaluations, is it reasonable to expect that
the candidate will be able to achieve an independent, tenure-track or equivalent faculty position within the time period requested for
the K99 phase of this award?

Career Development Plan/Career Goals and Objectives
Are the content and duration of the proposed components of the career development plan appropriate and well-justified for the
candidate’s current stage of scientific and professional development and proposed research career goals? 
To what extent does the proposed career development plan enhance or augment the applicant’s research training and skills
acquisition to date? 
Is the proposed career development plan likely to contribute substantially to the scientific and professional development of the
candidate, and facilitate their successful transition to independence? 
To what extent are the plans for evaluating the K99 recipient’s progress adequate and appropriate for guiding the candidate towards
a successful transition to the independent phase of the award? 
Is the timeline planned for transition to the independent phase of the award appropriate for the candidate’s current stage of scientific
and professional development, anticipated productivity, and the career development proposed for the K99 phase of the award?
If proposed, will the clinical trial experience contribute to the applicant’s research career development?

Research Plan
Is the proposed K99 phase research significant and scientifically sound?
Is the prior research that serves as the key support for the proposed project rigorous?
Has the candidate included plans to address weaknesses in the rigor of prior research that serves as the key support for the
proposed project?
Has the candidate presented strategies to ensure a robust and unbiased approach, as appropriate for the work proposed?
Has the candidate presented adequate plans to address relevant biological variables, such as sex, for studies in vertebrate animals
or human subjects?
Are the scientific and technical merits of the K99 research appropriate for developing the research skills described in the career
development plan, and appropriate for developing a highly successful R00 research program?
Is the proposed R00 phase research significant, scientifically sound, and a logical extension of the K99 phase research? Is there
evidence of long-term viability of the proposed R00 phase research plan?
Does the R00 phase project address an innovative hypothesis or challenge existing paradigms? Does the project develop or employ
novel concepts, approaches, methodologies, tools, or technologies?
To what extent is the proposed R00 phase research likely to foster the career of the candidate as a successful, independent
investigator in biomedical, behavioral, or clinical research?

If proposed, will the clinical trial experience contribute to the research project?

Mentor(s), Co-Mentor(s), Consultant(s), Collaborator(s)
To what extent does the mentor(s) have a strong track record in training future independent researchers?
To what extent are the mentor’s research qualifications and experience, scientific stature, and mentoring track record appropriate for
the applicant’s career development needs?
Is the supervision proposed for the mentored phase of support adequate, and is the commitment of the mentor(s) to the applicant’s
career development appropriate and sufficient?
Does the mentor provide an appropriate plan that addresses the candidate’s training needs, and that is likely to foster the
candidate’s continued development and transition to independence?
Does the mentor describe an acceptable plan for clear separation of the candidate’s research and research career from the
mentor’s research, including identifying the components of the research plan that the K99 candidate may take to an independent
research position?
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Are the consultants /collaborators research and/or mentoring qualifications appropriate for their roles in the proposed K99 phase of
the award? Do they provide letters of support that affirm their commitment? If applicable, are the Advisory Committee members
qualifications appropriate for their roles in the proposed K99 phase of the award? 
If the candidate is proposing to gain experience in a clinical trial as part of their research career development, is there evidence of
the appropriate expertise, experience, and ability on the part of the mentor(s) to guide the candidateduring participation in the
clinical trial?

Environment & Institutional Commitment to the Candidate
To what extent does the institution provide a high quality environment appropriate for the candidate’s development during the K99
phase of the award? 
To what extent are the research facilities and educational opportunities, including collaborating faculty, adequate and appropriate for
the candidate’s research and career development goals during the K99 phase of the award? Is adequate evidence provided that the
K99 sponsoring institution is strongly committed to fostering the candidate’s development and preparation for transition to
independence? 
Is there adequate assurance that the required minimum of 9 person months (75% of the candidate’s full-time professional effort) will
be devoted directly to the research training, career development, and research activities proposed for the K99 phase of the award?

Additional Review Criteria
As applicable for the project proposed, reviewers will evaluate the following additional items while determining scientific and technical
merit, and in providing an overall impact score, but will not give separate scores for these items.

Protections for Human Subjects

For research that involves human subjects but does not involve one of the categories of research that are exempt under 45 CFR Part 46,
the committee will evaluate the justification for involvement of human subjects and the proposed protections from research risk relating to
their participation according to the following five review criteria: 1) risk to subjects, 2) adequacy of protection against risks, 3) potential
benefits to the subjects and others, 4) importance of the knowledge to be gained, and 5) data and safety monitoring for clinical trials.

For research that involves human subjects and meets the criteria for one or more of the categories of research that are exempt under 45
CFR Part 46, the committee will evaluate: 1) the justification for the exemption, 2) human subjects involvement and characteristics, and
3) sources of materials. For additional information on review of the Human Subjects section, please refer to the Guidelines for the Review
of Human Subjects (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11175).

Inclusion of Women, Racial and Ethnic Minorities, and Individuals Across the Lifespan

When the proposed project involves human subjects and/or NIH-defined clinical research, the committee will evaluate the proposed plans
for the inclusion (or exclusion) of individuals on the basis of sex, race, and ethnicity, as well as the inclusion (or exclusion) of individuals
of all ages (including children and older adults) to determine if it is justified in terms of the scientific goals and research strategy proposed.
For additional information on review of the Inclusion section, please refer to the Guidelines for the Review of Inclusion in Clinical
Research (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11174).

Vertebrate Animals

The committee will evaluate the involvement of live vertebrate animals as part of the scientific assessment according to the following
three points: (1) a complete description of all proposed procedures including the species, strains, ages, sex, and total numbers of animals
to be used; (2) justifications that the species is appropriate for the proposed research and why the research goals cannot be
accomplished using an alternative non-animal model; and (3) interventions including analgesia, anesthesia, sedation, palliative care, and
humane endpoints that will be used to limit any unavoidable discomfort, distress, pain and injury in the conduct of scientifically valuable
research. Methods of euthanasia and justification for selected methods, if NOT consistent with the AVMA Guidelines for the Euthanasia of
Animals, is also required but is found in a separate section of the application. For additional information on review of the Vertebrate
Animals Section, please refer to the Worksheet for Review of the Vertebrate Animals Section.
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11150)

Biohazards

Reviewers will assess whether materials or procedures proposed are potentially hazardous to research personnel and/or the
environment, and if needed, determine whether adequate protection is proposed.

Resubmissions

For Resubmissions, the committee will evaluate the application as now presented, taking into consideration the responses to comments
from the previous scientific review group and changes made to the project.

Revisions
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For Revisions, the committee will consider the appropriateness of the proposed expansion of the scope of the project. If the Revision
application relates to a specific line of investigation presented in the original application that was not recommended for approval by the
committee, then the committee will consider whether the responses to comments from the previous scientific review group are adequate
and whether substantial changes are clearly evident.

Additional Review Considerations
As applicable for the project proposed, reviewers will consider each of the following items, but will not give scores for these items, and
should not consider them in providing an overall impact score.

Resource Sharing Plans

Reviewers will comment on whether the Resource Sharing Plan(s) (i.e., Sharing Model Organisms (https://sharing.nih.gov/other-sharing-
policies/model-organism-sharing-policy#policy-overview)) or the rationale for not sharing the resources, is reasonable.

Training in the Responsible Conduct of Research
All applications for support under this NOFO must include a plan to fulfill NIH requirements for instruction in the Responsible Conduct
of Research (RCR). Taking into account the level of experience of the candidate, including any prior instruction or participation in RCR
as appropriate for the candidate’s career stage, the reviewers will evaluate the adequacy of the proposed RCR training in relation to
the following five required components: 1) Format - the required format of instruction, i.e., face-to-face lectures, coursework, and/or
real-time discussion groups (a plan with only on-line instruction is not acceptable); 2) Subject Matter - the breadth of subject matter,
e.g., conflict of interest, authorship, data management, human subjects and animal use, laboratory safety, research misconduct,
research ethics; 3) Faculty Participation - the role of the mentor(s) and other faculty involvement in the fellow’s instruction; 4) Duration
of Instruction - the number of contact hours of instruction (at least eight contact hours are required); and 5) Frequency of Instruction –
instruction must occur during each career stage and at least once every four years. Plans and past record will be rated as
ACCEPTABLE or UNACCEPTABLE, and the summary statement will provide the consensus of the review committee. See also: NOT-
OD-10-019 (http://grants1.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-10-019.html).

Select Agent Research

Reviewers will assess the information provided in this section of the application, including 1) the Select Agent(s) to be used in the
proposed research, 2) the registration status of all entities where Select Agent(s) will be used, 3) the procedures that will be used to
monitor possession use and transfer of Select Agent(s), and 4) plans for appropriate biosafety, biocontainment, and security of the Select
Agent(s).

Authentication of Key Biological and/or Chemical Resources

For projects involving key biological and/or chemical resources, reviewers will comment on the brief plans proposed for identifying and
ensuring the validity of those resources.

Budget and Period of Support

Reviewers will consider whether the budget and the requested period of support are fully justified and reasonable in relation to the
proposed research.

2. Review and Selection Process

Applications will be evaluated for scientific and technical merit by (an) appropriate Scientific Review Group(s), in accordance with NIH peer
review policies and practices (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11154), using the stated review criteria. Assignment to a
Scientific Review Group will be shown in the eRA Commons.

As part of the scientific peer review, all applications:

May undergo a selection process in which only those applications deemed to have the highest scientific and technical merit
(generally the top half of applications under review) will be discussed and assigned an overall impact score.
Will receive a written critique.

Applications will be assigned on the basis of established PHS referral guidelines to the appropriate NIH Institute or Center. Applications will
compete for available funds with all other recommended applications. Following initial peer review, recommended applications will receive
a second level of review by the appropriate national Advisory Council or Board.

The following will be considered in making funding decisions:
Scientific and technical merit of the proposed project as determined by scientific peer review.
Availability of funds.
Relevance of the proposed project to program priorities
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3. Anticipated Announcement and Award Dates

After the peer review of the application is completed, the PD/PI will be able to access his or her Summary Statement (written critique) via the
eRA Commons (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11123). Refer to Part 1 for dates for peer review, advisory council review,
and earliest start date.

Information regarding the disposition of applications is available in the NIH Grants Policy Statement Section 2.4.4 Disposition of Applications
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82416).

Section VI. Award Administration Information
1. Award Notices

If the application is under consideration for funding, NIH will request "just-in-time" information from the applicant as described in the NIH
Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82418). This request is not a Notice of Award nor should it be
construed to be an indicator of possible funding. 

A formal notification in the form of a Notice of Award (NoA) will be provided to the applicant organization for successful applications. The NoA
signed by the grants management officer is the authorizing document and will be sent via email to the recipient’s business official.

Recipients must comply with any funding restrictions described in Section IV.6. Funding Restrictions. Selection of an application for award is
not an authorization to begin performance. Any costs incurred before receipt of the NoA are at the recipient's risk. These costs may be
reimbursed only to the extent considered allowable pre-award costs.

Any application awarded in response to this NOFO will be subject to terms and conditions found on the Award Conditions and Information for
NIH Grants (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/HTML5/part_ii_subpart_b.htm) website. This includes any recent legislation and policy
applicable to awards that is highlighted on this website.

There will not be a formal Notice of Award (NoA) associated with the K99 phase of the award conducted in the NIH intramural program.
The awarding Institute will transmit to the successful candidate an approval letter which will include the terms and conditions of the NIH
intramural  K99  award, as well as expectations for the transition to the R00 phase of the award.

2. Administrative and National Policy Requirements

All NIH grant and cooperative agreement awards include the NIH Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?
id=11120) as part of the NoA. For these terms of award, see the NIH Grants Policy Statement Part II: Terms and Conditions of NIH Grant
Awards, Subpart A: General (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11157) and Part II: Terms and Conditions of NIH Grant Awards,
Subpart B: Terms and Conditions for Specific Types of Grants, Recipients, and Activities (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?
id=11159), including of note, but not limited to:

Federal-wide Standard Terms and Conditions for Research Grants
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/HTML5/section_3/3.1_federalwide_standard_terms_and_conditions_for_research_grants.htm)
Prohibition on Certain Telecommunications and Video Surveillance Services or Equipment
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82417)
Acknowledgment of Federal Funding
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/HTML5/section_4/4.2.1_acknowledgement_of_federal_funding.htm)

If a recipient is successful and receives a Notice of Award, in accepting the award, the recipient agrees that any activities under the award are
subject to all provisions currently in effect or implemented during the period of the award, other Department regulations and policies in effect
at the time of the award, and applicable statutory provisions. 

If a recipient receives an award, the recipient must follow all applicable nondiscrimination laws. The recipient agrees to this when registering
in SAM.gov. The recipient must also submit an Assurance of Compliance (HHS-690 (https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/form-hhs690.pdf)).
To learn more, see Laws and Regulations Enforced by the HHS Office for Civil Rights website (https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-
providers/laws-regulations-guidance/laws/index.html). 

HHS recognizes that NIH research projects are often limited in scope for many reasons that are nondiscriminatory, such as the principal
investigator’s scientific interest, funding limitations, recruitment requirements, and other considerations. Thus, criteria in research protocols
that target or exclude certain populations are warranted where nondiscriminatory justifications establish that such criteria are appropriate with
respect to the health or safety of the subjects, the scientific study design, or the purpose of the research. For additional guidance regarding
how the provisions apply to NIH grant programs, please contact the Scientific/Research Contact that is identified in Section VII under Agency
Contacts of this NOFO.

In accordance with the statutory provisions contained in Section 872 of the Duncan Hunter National Defense Authorization Act of Fiscal Year
2009 (Public Law 110-417), NIH awards will be subject to System for Award Management (SAM.gov) requirements. SAM.gov requires
Federal agencies to review and consider information about an applicant in the designated integrity and performance system (currently
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SAM.gov) prior to making an award. An applicant can review and comment on any information in the responsibility/qualification records
available in SAM.gov. NIH will consider any comments by the applicant, in addition to the information available in the
responsibility/qualification records in SAM.gov, in making a judgement about the applicant’s integrity, business ethics, and record of
performance under Federal awards when completing the review of risk posed by applicants as described in 2 CFR Part 200.206 “Federal
awarding agency review of risk posed by applicants.” This provision will apply to all NIH grants and cooperative agreements except
fellowships.
Transition to the Independent Phase

Transition from the mentored phase to the independent phase is intended to be continuous in time and, except in unusual, extenuating
circumstances, the awarding NIH Institute/Center will not extend the K99 phase beyond the 2-year limit. ICs may, at their discretion, make
exceptions to this time limitation when individuals have been invited for faculty job interviews but final decisions have not yet been made by
the potential R00 institution or, rarely, because of unusual, extenuating circumstances. To activate the independent phase of the grant,
individuals must have been offered and accepted a tenure-track, full-time assistant professor position (or equivalent) by the end of the K99
project period.

An eligible R00 institution will have appropriate infrastructure to support the proposed research program and a history of external research
funding. K99 recipients are free to apply for independent phase positions within the NIH intramural research program (IRP). However, should
the individual accept such a position in the IRP, the independent phase of the award will not be activated. This is because NIH intramural
scientists are supported directly by NIH intramural funds and are not eligible for NIH extramural grant awards. Eligibility of for-profit
organizations for the R00 phase depends on the nature of the appointment, and the ability of the PD/PI to conduct independent research and
apply for NIH R01 or R01-equivalent research grants. PIs are encouraged to discuss job offers at for-profit organizations with NIH Program
staff well in advance of accepting such an offer.

To avoid potential problems in activating the independent phase, recipients are strongly encouraged to contact their NIH program official as
soon as plans to apply for and, assume an independent position develop, and not later than 6 months prior to the termination of the K99
phase of the award.

At that time, individuals should discuss plans for transition to, and application for, the R00 phase with their NIH program official. The
application for the R00 phase of the award should be submitted no later than 2 months prior to the proposed activation date of the R00 award
by the R00 phase recipient organization.

The independent phase institution will submit an application on behalf of the candidate for the R00 award using the PHS 398 Application
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=22000). The R00 application must include:

A new face page signed by the R00 phase institutional representative;
A new project description page (the project summary or abstract should be updated to reflect current plans for the R00 phase);
Detailed budget pages for a non-modular budget;
Biographical sketches for the PD/PI and any other Key Personnel;
A new Resources page;
A brief description of progress made during the K99 phase that will serve as the Final Progress Report for the K99 phase;
An updated research plan (the specific aims should be updated to reflect current plans for the R00 phase and the updated research
plan should be briefly described in less than 5 pages);
Updated Protections for Human Subjects and Inclusion of Women, Minorities and Individuals across the Lifespan (as appropriate);
Authentication of Key Biological and/or Chemical Resources (as appropriate);
Updated Vertebrate Animals (as appropriate);
Updated Biohazards (as appropriate); and
A new checklist.

These materials should be sent directly to the awarding Institute or Center (IC). The original application plus one copy (preferably in PDF
format) are to be mailed (or e-mailed) to the Financial or Grants Management contact person of the awarding NIH Institute or Center listed in
the Notice of Award. The R00 application will be evaluated by extramural Program staff of the awarding component for completeness and
appropriateness to the program.

Two additional documents are included with the R00 application. A letter from the R00 Department or Division Chairman must be submitted
that describes the R00 institution’s commitment to the candidate and plans for their career development (see below). If not already provided,
the final evaluation statement by the K99 phase mentor, must be provided.

In addition to space, facilities, resources, and other support needed to conduct the proposed research, the sponsoring institution must provide
protected research time (minimum of 9 person-months or 75% of the candidate’s full time professional effort) at least for the duration of the
R00 award. The start-up package and other institutional support must be described in detail and must be comparable to that given to other
faculty recently hired into tenure-track or equivalent faculty positions. Institutions must provide a startup and salary package equivalent to that
provided to a newly hired faculty member who does not have a grant; R00 funds may not be used to offset the typical startup package or to
offset the usual institutional commitment to provide salary for tenure-track (or equivalent) assistant professors who are hired without grant
support.  The R00 sponsoring institution must describe the candidate’s academic appointment, bearing in mind that it must be tenure-track
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assistant professor (or equivalent), and confirm that the appointment is not contingent on the transfer of the award to the institution. The R00
phase institution must describe how the recipient’s ability to apply for and secure independent research grant (R01) support  will be fostered
and supported during the R00 phase of the award.

The R00 award requires that a minimum of 9 person months (75% of the candidate’s full time professional effort) be devoted to research
activities. Consequently, teaching, clinical duties and other non-research activities should be minimal during the R00 award period. NIH staff
may review start-up packages and other commitments between the institution and candidate prior to activating the independent phase of the
award. It is suggested that the applicant and/or the hiring institution discuss the institutional commitment with the relevant NIH institute
Program Official prior to  finalizing the offer.  NIH will not activate the independent phase if the institutional commitment is deemed
inadequate. Recipients who are approved to transition will receive a Notice of Award reflecting the new R00 grant mechanism, the dollar
amount, and the new recipient organization (if applicable).

The K99/R00 award is intended to facilitate successful transition to independence. Consequently, a requirement for activation of the R00
phase is successful completion of this transition. K99 recipients are encouraged (but not required) to apply for independent positions at
departments and institutions different from where they conducted their mentored research. It is important for all recipients, but especially so
for those who intend to stay at the mentored phase institution for the independent phase, to provide a plan by which they will separate from
their mentor and advance to independence. Recipients are also encouraged to include a plan and timeline for submitting an independent
research grant application in a research area relevant to the mission of an NIH awarding component.

Candidates who are not approved to transition will receive written notification from the awarding component communicating the rationale for
the disapproval. This notification typically will be sent within 60 days of receipt of the R00 application.

Although the financial plans of the NIH Institute or Center provide support for this program, awards pursuant to this funding opportunity are
contingent upon the availability of funds.

Termination of the K99 award phase

If transition from the K99 phase at an extramural institution to the R00 phase occurs at the originally scheduled end date of the K99 award,
then no specific steps to terminate the K99 award are necessary. If the transition at an extramural institution occurs prior to the scheduled end
date, then a revised Notice of Award will be issued to terminate the K99 phase award.  Carry-over of unspent funds from a partially completed
year in the K99 phase into the R00 phase may be permitted.
3. Data Management and Sharing

Consistent with the 2023 NIH Policy for Data Management and Sharing, when data management and sharing is applicable to the award,
recipients will be required to adhere to the Data Management and Sharing requirements as outlined in the NIH Grants Policy Statement
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/HTML5/section_8/8.2.3_sharing_research_resources.htm#Data). Upon the approval of a Data
Management and Sharing Plan, it is required for recipients to implement the plan as described.

4. Reporting

When multiple years are involved, recipients will be required to submit the Research Performance Progress Report (RPPR)
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/rppr/index.htm) annually and financial statements as required in the NIH Grants Policy Statement
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82419). The Supplemental Instructions for Individual Career Development (K) RPPRs must
be followed. For mentored awards, the Mentor’s Report must include an annual evaluation statement of the candidate’s progress.

A final RPPR, invention statement, and the expenditure data portion of the Federal Financial Report are required for closeout of an award, as
described in the NIH Grants Policy Statement (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/policy/nihgps/HTML5/section_8/8.6_closeout.htm). NIH NOFOs
outline intended research goals and objectives. Post award, NIH will review and measure performance based on the details and outcomes
that are shared within the RPPR, as described at 2 CFR 200.301.

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 as amended (FFATA), includes a requirement for recipients of Federal
grants to report information about first-tier subawards and executive compensation under Federal assistance awards issued in FY2011 or
later.  All recipients of applicable NIH grants and cooperative agreements are required to report to the Federal Subaward Reporting System
(FSRS) available at www.fsrs.gov (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11170) on all subawards over the threshold. See the NIH
Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=82420) for additional information on this reporting requirement. 

In accordance with the regulatory requirements provided at 2 CFR Part 200.113 and Appendix XII to 2 CFR Part 200, recipients that have
currently active Federal grants, cooperative agreements, and procurement contracts from all Federal awarding agencies with a cumulative
total value greater than $10,000,000 for any period of time during the period of performance of a Federal award, must report and maintain the
currency of information reported in the System for Award Management (SAM) about civil, criminal, and administrative proceedings in
connection with the award or performance of a Federal award that reached final disposition within the most recent five-year period.  The
recipient must also make semiannual disclosures regarding such proceedings. Proceedings information will be made publicly available in the
designated integrity and performance system (Responsibility/Qualification in SAM.gov, formerly FAPIIS).  This is a statutory requirement
under section 872 of Public Law 110-417, as amended (41 U.S.C. 2313).  As required by section 3010 of Public Law 111-212, all information
posted in the designated integrity and performance system on or after April 15, 2011, except past performance reviews required for Federal
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procurement contracts, will be publicly available.  Full reporting requirements and procedures are found in Appendix XII to 2 CFR Part 200 –
Award Term and Condition for Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters.
5. Evaluation

In carrying out its stewardship of human resource-related programs, NIH may request information essential to an assessment of the
effectiveness of this program from databases and from participants themselves. Participants may be contacted after the completion of this
award for periodic updates on various aspects of their employment history, publications, support from research grants or contracts, honors
and awards, professional activities, and other information helpful in evaluating the impact of the program.

Section VII. Agency Contacts
We encourage inquiries concerning this funding opportunity and welcome the opportunity to answer questions from potential applicants.

Because of the difference in individual Institute and Center (IC) program requirements for this NOFO, prospective
applications MUST consult the Table of IC-Specific Information, Requirements, and Staff Contacts
(https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-information-PA-24-194.html), to make sure that their application is responsive to
the requirements of one of the participating NIH ICs. Prior consultation with NIH staff is strongly encouraged.

Application Submission Contacts
eRA Service Desk (Questions regarding ASSIST, eRA Commons, application errors and warnings, documenting system problems that
threaten on-time submission, and post-submission issues)

Finding Help Online: https://www.era.nih.gov/need-help (https://www.era.nih.gov/need-help) (preferred method of contact)
Telephone: 301-402-7469 or 866-504-9552 (Toll Free)

General Grants Information (Questions regarding application processes and NIH grant resources)
Email: GrantsInfo@nih.gov (mailto:GrantsInfo@nih.gov) (preferred method of contact)
Telephone: 301-637-3015

Grants.gov Customer Support (Questions regarding Grants.gov registration and Workspace)
Contact Center Telephone: 800-518-4726
Email: support@grants.gov (mailto:support@grants.gov)

Scientific/Research Contact(s)
See Table of IC-Specific Information, Requirements and Staff Contacts (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-
information-PA-24-194.html).

Peer Review Contact(s)
Examine your eRA Commons account for review assignment and contact information (information appears two weeks after the submission
due date).

Financial/Grants Management Contact(s)
See Table of IC-Specific Information, Requirements and Staff Contacts (https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/contacts/IC-specific-
information-PA-24-194.html).

Section VIII. Other Information
Recently issued trans-NIH policy notices (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11163) may affect your application submission. A
full list of policy notices published by NIH is provided in the NIH Guide for Grants and Contracts
(//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11164). All awards are subject to the terms and conditions, cost principles, and other
considerations described in the NIH Grants Policy Statement (//grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/url_redirect.php?id=11120).

Please note that the NIH Loan Repayment Programs (LRPs) are a set of programs to attract and retain promising early-stage investigators in
research careers by helping them to repay their student loans. Recipients of career development awards are encouraged to consider applying
for an extramural LRP award.

Authority and Regulations
Awards are made under the authorization of Sections 301 and 405 of the Public Health Service Act as amended (42 USC 241 and 284)
and under Federal Regulations 42 CFR Part 52 and 2 CFR Part 75.

Weekly TOC for this Announcement (/grants/guide/WeeklyIndex.cfm?04-26-24)
NIH Funding Opportunities and Notices (/grants/guide/index.html)

4/16/25, 1:00 PM PA-24-194: NIH Pathway to Independence Award (Parent K99/R00 Independent Clinical Trial Not Allowed)

https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PA-24-194.html 24/25

Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 58 of 65



 (/grants/oer.htm)

 (https://www.hhs.gov/) Department of Health
and Human Services (HHS)

 (https://www.usa.gov/)

NIH... Turning Discovery Into Health®
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EXHIBIT H 

Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 60 of 65



Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 61 of 65



Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 62 of 65



Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 63 of 65



Case 1:25-cv-10787-BEM     Document 38-21     Filed 04/25/25     Page 64 of 65



FAQs

Help
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